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€3,000,000,000
Euro Medium Term Note Programme
(incorporated as a joint stock company in the Republic of Poland)

Under this €3,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme"), Bank Millennium
S.A. (the "Issuer" or the "Bank", and together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the "Group") may from
time to time issue notes (the "Notes") denominated in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer (as defined below).

The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Notes from time to time outstanding under the
Programme will not exceed €3,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), subject to any increase
as described herein.

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified under " General
Description of the Programme" below and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme from
time to time by the Issuer (each a "Dealer" and together the "Dealers"), which appointment may be for a
specific issue or on an ongoing basis. References in this Base Prospectus to the "relevant Dealer" shall, in
the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed for by more than one Dealer, be to all
Dealers agreeing to subscribe for such Notes.

This document constitutes a base prospectus (the "Base Prospectus") for the purposes of Article 8(1) of
the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the "Prospectus Regulation"). This Base Prospectus has been approved
by the Luxembourg Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the "CSSF"), which is the
Luxembourg competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation, as a base prospectus issued in
compliance with the Prospectus Regulation for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Notes
issued under the Programme during the period of twelve months after the date hereof. The CSSF has only
approved this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and
consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Such an approval should not be considered as an
endorsement of the Issuer nor as an endorsement of the quality of any Notes that are the subject of this
Base Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in such
Notes. The CSSF assumes no responsibility for the economic and financial soundness of the transactions
contemplated by this Base Prospectus or the quality or solvency of the Issuer. The Issuer has requested
the CSFF to provide the competent authority of the Republic of Poland with a certificate of approval
attesting that this Base Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation (the
"Notification"). The Issuer may request the CSSF to provide the Notification to other competent
authorities in any Member State (each a "Member State") of the European Economic Area (the "EEA").

Applications have been made for such Notes to be admitted during the period of twelve months after the
date hereof to listing on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the "Official List") and to
trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Applications may also be made for
such Notes to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Warsaw Stock Exchange (Gielda
Papierow Wartosciowych w Warszawie S.A., the "WSE") Each of the regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the WSE is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive
2014/65/EU on markets in financial instruments (as amended, "MiFID II"). The Programme also permits
Notes to be issued on the basis that they will not be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any
competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system or to be admitted to listing, trading and/or
quotation by such other or further competent authorities, stock exchanges and/or quotation systems as
may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.



This Base Prospectus (as supplemented from time to time) is valid for use for a period of up to 12
months after its approval and shall expire on 6 April 2023, at the latest. The obligation to
supplement this Base Prospectus in the event of a significant new factor, material mistake or
material inaccuracy does not apply when this Base Prospectus is no longer valid.

The requirement to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation only applies to Notes which are
to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EEA and/or offered to the public in the EEA other
than in circumstances where an exemption is available under Article 1(4) and/or 3(2) of the Prospectus
Regulation.

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S.
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, (THE "SECURITIES ACT") OR ANY U.S. STATE
SECURITIES LAWS AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD IN THE UNITED STATES OR TO,
OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT UNLESS AN EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT IS AVAILABLE AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH
ALL APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES AND ANY
OTHER JURISDICTION (SEE "SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE").

The aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of
Notes and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes will
be set out in a final terms document (the "Final Terms") which will be filed with the CSSF. Copies of
Final Terms in relation to Notes to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange will
also be published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). Copies of Final
Terms in relation to Notes listed on the regulated market of the WSE will also be published on the
website of the WSE (www.gpw.pl).

The applicable Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes will state whether the Notes of such Tranche are to
be: (i) Senior Notes; or (ii) Subordinated Notes and, if Senior Notes, whether such notes are: (a) Ordinary
Senior Notes; or (b) Senior Non-Preferred Notes and, if Subordinated Notes, whether such Notes are: (a)
Senior Subordinated Notes; or (b) Tier 2 Subordinated Notes.

The Issuer has been rated BBB- by Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited ("Fitch") and Baal by Moody's
Deutschland GmbH ("Moody's") respectively. Fitch and Moody's are established in the EEA and
registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 (as amended), on credit rating agencies (the "EU CRA
Regulation"). As such, Fitch and Moody's are included in the list of credit rating agencies published by
the European Securities and Markets Authority on its website (at http://www.esma.europa.cu/page/List-
registered-and-certified-CRAs) in accordance with the EU CRA Regulation. The ratings Fitch and
Moody's have given to the Issuer and the Notes to be issued under the Programme are endorsed by Fitch
Ratings Limited and by Moody's Investors Service Limited respectively and registered under Regulation
(EU) No 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom (the
"UK") by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "EUWA"), (the "UK CRA
Regulation") and appear on the list of credit rating agencies registered or certified with the UK Financial
Conduct Authority (the "FCA") published on its website published on its website
https://www.fca.org.uk/markets/credit-rating-agencies/registered-certified-cras.

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to
revision, suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. A
revision, suspension, reduction, or withdrawal of a rating may adversely affect the market price of
the Notes.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. The principal risk

factors that may affect the ability of the Issuer to fulfil its obligations under the Notes are discussed
under "Risk Factors" below.
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Arranger

UniCredit
Dealers
BNP Paribas Erste Group Millennium BCP
Morgan Stanley UniCredit

The date of this Base Prospectus is 6 April 2022.
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IMPORTANT NOTICES

This Base Prospectus comprises a base prospectus in respect of all Notes issued under the Programme for
the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation. When used in this Base Prospectus, "Prospectus Regulation"
means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 and "UK Prospectus Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129
as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus and the Final
Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer
(having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this Base
Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and the Base Prospectus makes no omission likely to affect its
mport.

The Issuer confirms that any information which has been extracted from an external source has been
accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, no facts have been omitted which would render the
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents deemed to be incorporated in it by
reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below) and, in relation to any Tranche of Notes,
must be read and construed together with the applicable Final Terms. This Base Prospectus shall be read
and construed on the basis that those documents are incorporated, in and form part of, this Base
Prospectus. Other than in relation to such documents (or any parts thereof) which are deemed to be
incorporated by reference, the information on any website to which this Base Prospectus refers does not
form part of this Base Prospectus.

No representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability
is accepted by the Dealers as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or
incorporated in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with
the Programme. No Dealer accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or incorporated
by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with
the Programme or accepts any responsibility for the acts or omissions of the Issuer or any other person
(other than the relevant Dealer) in connection with the issue and offering of the Notes.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or to make any representation
not contained in, or not consistent with, this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation
must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any of the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any
Notes: (i) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation; or (ii) should be considered as
a recommendation or constituting an invitation or offer by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of the Dealers
that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes
should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own
appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information
supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by
or on behalf of the Issuer or any of the Dealers to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any
circumstances imply that the information contained in it concerning the Issuer is correct at any time
subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is
correct as of any time subsequent to its date indicated in the document containing the same. The Dealers
expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the lifetime of
the Programme or to advise any investor in the Notes issued under the Programme of any information
coming to their attention.

As a result of the implementation of the BRRD (as defined herein) into Polish law or the law of any other
relevant jurisdiction, Noteholders may be subject to write-down or conversion into instruments eligible
for the Issuer's own funds on any application of the general bail-in tool and non-viability loss absorption,
which may result in such Noteholders losing some or all of their investment.



STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the
Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the applicable
Final Terms may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the
Notes at a level higher than the price that might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not
necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public
disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at
any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of
Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation
action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on
behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

IMPORTANT - PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS

The Notes issued under the Programme are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available
to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these
purposes, a "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point
(11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as
amended, the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a
professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as
defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, no key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "EU PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the
Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be
unlawful under the EU PRIIPs Regulation.

IMPORTANT - PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS

The Notes issued under the Programme are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available
to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the UK. For these
purposes, a "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in
point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of
the EUWA or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 (the "FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance
Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point
(8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the
EUWA; or (iii)) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation
Consequently, no key information document required by the EU PRIIPs Regulation as it forms part of
UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the
Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be
unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

PRODUCT GOVERNANCE UNDER MIFID 11

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "MIFID II Product Governance",
which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for
distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the
Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a
distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect
of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels. A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the
purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "MiFID
Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such
Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a
manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.



PRODUCT GOVERNANCE UNDER UK MIFIR

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MiFIR Product Governance",
which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for
distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any distributor subsequently offering, selling or recommending
the Notes should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a UK distributor subject
to the UK Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA") Handbook Product Intervention and Product
Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking
its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR
Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such
Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a
manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

EU BENCHMARKS REGULATION

Interest and/or other amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to certain reference
rates. Any such reference rate may constitute a benchmark for the purposes of Regulation (EU)
2016/1011 (the "EU Benchmarks Regulation"). If any such reference rate does constitute such a
benchmark, the Final Terms will indicate whether or not the benchmark is provided by an administrator
included in the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by ESMA pursuant
to Article 36 (Register of administrators and benchmarks) of the EU Benchmarks Regulation.
Transitional provisions in the EU Benchmarks Regulation may have the result that the administrator of a
particular benchmark is not required to appear in the register of administrators and benchmarks at the date
of the applicable Final Terms (or, if located outside the EU, recognition, endorsement or equivalence. The
registration status of any administrator under the EU Benchmarks Regulation is a matter of public record
and, save where required by applicable law, the Issuer does not intend to update the Final Terms to reflect
any change in the registration status of the administrator.

SINGAPORE: SECTION 309B(1)(C) NOTIFICATION

In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (2020 Revised Edition) of
Singapore (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of
Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has, unless otherwise specified before an offer of
Notes, determined the classification of all Notes to be issued under the Programme as prescribed capital
markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as
defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-
N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

REFERENCES TO LEGISLATION

Any reference in this Base Prospectus to any legislation (whether primary legislation or other subsidiary
legislation made pursuant to primary legislation) shall be construed as a reference to such legislation as
the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended, superseded or re-enacted.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND
OFFERS OF NOTES GENERALLY

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in
any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.
The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain
jurisdictions. None of the Issuer and the Dealers represents that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully
distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or
other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes
any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, unless specifically
indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been taken by the Issuer or the
Dealers that is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this Base Prospectus in
any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold,
directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material
may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in



compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus
or any Notes may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the
distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Notes. In particular, there are restrictions
on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States, the EEA,
the United Kingdom and Singapore (see "Subscription and Sale" below).

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must
determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential
investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional
advisers, whether it:

(a) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(b) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on
its overall investment portfolio;

(c) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes, including Notes where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from
the potential investor's currency;

(d) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of financial
markets and of any financial variable that might have a negative impact on the return on the
Notes; and

(e) is able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain
investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain
authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what
extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of
borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions
should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of
Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

A potential investor may not rely on the Issuer, the Arranger or any of the Dealers or any of their
respective affiliates in connection with its determination as to the legality of its acquisition of the Notes or
as to the other matters referred to above.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION
Presentation of Financial Information

Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information in this Base Prospectus relating to the Group has
been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial years ended
2020 and 2021.

The Group's financial year ends on 31 December and references in this Base Prospectus to any specific
year are to the 12-month period ended on 31 December of such year. The Group's financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted
by the EU.

Certain Defined Terms and Conventions
Capitalised terms which are used but not defined in any particular section of this Base Prospectus will

have the meaning attributed thereto in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" or any other section of this
Base Prospectus.



In this Base Prospectus, all references to:

(a)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)

"USD" and "U.S. dollars" refer to United States dollars;

"Swiss Franc" and "CHF" refer to the lawful currency of Switzerland;
"PLN" and "zloty" refer to the lawful currency of Poland; and
"Sterling" and "£" refer to pounds sterling;

"euro”, "EUR" and "€" refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the
European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the
European Union, as amended.

On 5 April 2022, the National Bank of Poland (the "NBP") exchange rate between the euro and zloty was
EUR 1 — PLN 4.6317, the exchange rate between U.S. dollars and ztoty was USD 1 — PLN 4.2233 and
the exchange rate between the Swiss Franc and ztoty was CHF 1 — PLN 4.5590.

Certain figures and percentages included in this Base Prospectus have been subject to rounding
adjustments; accordingly, figures shown in the same category presented in different tables may vary
slightly and figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures
which precede them.



GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its
entirety by, the remainder of this Prospectus and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any
particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms. The Issuer and any relevant Dealer may
agree that Notes shall be issued in a form other than that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions,
in which event, in the case of listed Notes only and if appropriate, a new Prospectus will be published.

Issuer: Bank Millennium S.A.

Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme

LEI: 2594000FDZ9KPZEO8SK78

Website: www.bankmillennium.pl

Programme: The Issuer may, subject to compliance with all relevant laws,

regulations and directives, from time to time issue Notes
denominated in any currency as may be agreed between the Issuer
and the relevant Dealer. The aggregate nominal amount, any interest
rate or interest calculation, the issue price and any other terms and
conditions contained herein with respect to each Series of Notes will
be determined at the time of issuance and set forth in the applicable
Final Terms.

Risk Factors: There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil
its respective obligations under Notes issued under the Programme.
In addition, there are certain factors which are material for the
purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued
under the Programme and risks relating to the structure of a particular
Series of Notes issued under the Programme. The risk factors
identified by the Issuer are set out under the section Risk Factors.

Arranger: UniCredit Bank AG

Dealers: BNP Paribas
Erste Group Bank AG
Millennium BCP
Morgan Stanley Europe SE
UniCredit Bank AG

and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the Programme
Agreement.

Certain Restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which
particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which
comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or
reporting requirements from time to time (see "Subscription and
Sale"), including the following restrictions applicable at the date of
this Base Prospectus.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes having a maturity of less than one year will constitute deposits
for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting deposits contained in
section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the
"FSMA") unless they are issued to a limited class of professional
investors and have a denomination of at least £100,000 or its
equivalent (see "Subscription and Sale").
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Issuing and Principal Paying
Agent:

Luxembourg Listing Agent:

Distribution:

Currencies:

Status of the Notes:

Programme Size:

Maturities:

Issuance in Series:

Issue Price:

Form of the Notes:

Fixed Rate Notes:

Reset Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

Citibank N.A., London Branch

Banque Internationale & Luxembourg SA

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and
in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

Notes may be denominated in any currency or currencies agreed
between the Issuer and the Dealers, subject to compliance with all
applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements.

Notes may be either Senior Notes (in which case they will be
Ordinary Senior Notes or Senior Non-Preferred Notes) or
Subordinated Notes (in which case they will be Senior Subordinated
Notes or Tier 2 Subordinated Notes) as more fully described in
Condition 2 (Status of the Notes).

Up to €3,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies calculated
as described in the Programme Agreement) outstanding at any time.
The Issuer may increase the amount of the Programme in accordance
with the terms of the Programme Agreement.

A maturity of at least one year or such minimum or maximum
maturities as may be allowed or required from time to time by the
relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations
applicable to the Issuer or the relevant Specified Currency.

Notes will be issued in Series. Each Series may comprise one or
more Tranches issued on different issue dates. The Notes of each
Series will all be subject to identical terms, except that the issue date
and the amount of the first payment of interest may be different in
respect of different Tranches. The Notes of each Tranche will also be
subject to identical terms in all respects save that a Tranche may
comprise Notes of different denominations.

Notes will be issued on a fully-paid basis and at an issue price which
is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par.

The Notes will be issued in bearer form as described in "Form of the
Notes".

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and, on redemption, will
be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Reset Notes will, in respect of an initial period, bear interest at the
initial fixed rate of interest specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Thereafter, the fixed rate of interest will be reset on one or more
date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms by reference to the
aggregate of a mid-market swap rate or government security for the
relevant Specified Currency, and for a period equal to the reset
period, and any applicable margin, in each case as may be specified
in the applicable Final Terms. Such interest will be payable in arrear
on the Interest Payment Date(s) specified in the applicable Final
Terms or determined pursuant to the Conditions of the Notes.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:
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Benchmark Discontinuation:

Zero Coupon Notes:

Redemption:

e on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest
rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency
governed by an agreement incorporating: (i) unless "ISDA 2021
Definitions" are specified as being applicable in the relevant
Final Terms, the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as supplemented,
amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of
the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the relevant Final
Terms)) as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. or (ii) if "ISDA 2021 Definitions" are specified
as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the latest version
of ISDA 2021 Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions, including
each Matrix (as defined therein) (and any successor thereto),
each as published by ISDA (or any successor) on its website
(http://www.isda.org), on the date of issue of the first Tranche of
the Notes of such Series; or

e on the basis of the reference rate appearing on the agreed screen
page of a commercial quotation service.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each Series of Floating
Rate Notes.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a
minimum interest rate or both.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest Period, as
agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, will be
payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and will be calculated on the
basis of such Day Count Fraction, as may be agreed between the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

On the occurrence of a Benchmark Event or a Benchmark Transition
Event, as the case may be, and if “Benchmark Replacement” or
“Benchmark Transition” is expressed in the applicable Final Terms
to be applicable, the Issuer will use its reasonable endeavours to
appoint an Independent Adviser to determine (failing which, the
Issuer may determine) (i) a Successor Rate, failing which an
Alternative Rate and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment
Spread, and any Benchmark Amendments or (ii) a Benchmark
Replacement and any Benchmark Replacement Conforming
Changes, as applicable, and as further set out in accordance with
Condition 5.2.

Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount to their
nominal amount and will not bear interest.

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that: the relevant
Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than
for taxation reasons, or following an Event of Default or, in the case
of Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes or Senior
Subordinated Notes, upon the occurrence of an MREL
Disqualification Event, or, in the case of Tier 2 Subordinated Notes,
upon the occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event), or that such
Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer and/or the
Noteholders upon giving notice to the Noteholders or the Issuer, as
the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to such stated
maturity and at a price or prices and on such other terms as may be
agreed between the Issuer and the Noteholders.

The terms of any such redemption, including notice periods, any
relevant conditions to be satisfied and the relevant redemption dates
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Denomination of Notes:

Approval, Listing and
Admission to Trading:

Events of Default:

Cross-Acceleration:

Negative Pledge:

and prices will be indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Any early redemption of Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred
Notes, Senior Subordinated Notes or Tier 2 Subordinated Notes will
be subject to the prior consent of the Competent Authority to the
extent required, in accordance with Applicable Banking Regulations.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year are subject to
restrictions on their denomination and distribution, see "Certain
Restrictions — Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional United
Kingdom Securities Laws".

The Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer save that the minimum
denomination of each Note will be such amount as may be allowed or
required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent
body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified
Currency and save that the minimum denomination of each Note
admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European
Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member State of the
European Economic Area in circumstances which require the
publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation will be
€100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than
euro, the equivalent amount in such currency).

Application has been made to the CSSF to approve this document as
a base prospectus. Application has also been made for Notes issued
under the Programme to be listed on the Official List of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Applications
may also be made for Notes issued under the Programme to be listed
on the WSE.

Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on
other or additional stock exchanges or markets agreed between the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer in relation to the Series.

The Programme also permits Notes to be issued on the basis that they
will not be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any
competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system.

The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the relevant
Notes are to be listed and/or admitted to trading and, if so, on which
stock exchanges and/or markets.

The terms of the Ordinary Senior Notes contain events of default, as
further described in Condition 10.1 (Events of Default relating to
Ordinary Senior Notes).

The terms of the Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes,
Senior Subordinated Notes or Tier 2 Subordindated Notes contain
limited events of default, as further described in Condition 10.3
(Events of Default relating to Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-
Preferred Notes or Senior Subordinated Notes and Tier 2
Subordinated Notes).

The terms of the Ordinary Senior Notes will contain a cross
acceleration provision as described in Condition 10.1 (Events of
Default relating to Ordinary Senior Notes).

The terms of the Ordinary Senior Notes will contain a negative
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Taxation:

Governing law:

Selling Restrictions:

Bail-in:

United States Selling
Restrictions:

Regulatory Matters:

Rating:

Use of proceeds:

pledge provision as described in Condition 3.1 (Negative Pledge).

All amounts payable in respect of the Notes will be made without
withholding or deduction for or on account of any taxes imposed by
any Tax Jurisdiction as provided in Condition 8 (7axation). In the
event that any such withholding or deduction is made, the Issuer will,
save in certain limited circumstances provided in Condition 8
(Taxation), be required to pay additional amounts to cover the
amounts so withheld or deducted.

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of in
connection with the Notes will be governed by English law, except
that Condition 2 (Status of the Notes) and Condition 20
(Acknowledgment of Bail-in and Loss Absorption Powers) which
shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, Polish law.

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in
the United States, the European Economic Area, France, Italy,
Singapore and the United Kingdom and such other restrictions as
may be required in connection with the offering and sale of a
particular Tranche of Notes, see "Subscription and Sale".

By its acquisition of the Notes, each Noteholder shall acknowledge
and accept that the Notes may be subject to the exercise of the Bail-in
Tool by the Competent Authority, as further described in
Condition 20 (Acknowledgment of Bail-in and Loss Absorption
Powers).

Regulation S, Category 2. TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not
applicable, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Each issue of Notes in respect of which particular laws, guidelines,
regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be
issued in circumstances which comply with such laws, guidelines,
regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time
(see "Subscription and Sale").

The Issuer has been rated BBB- by Fitch and Baal by Moody's
respectively. In general, European regulated investors are restricted
from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1)
issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered
under the EU CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating
agency not established in the EEA but is endorsed by a credit rating
agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA
Regulation or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established
in the EEA which is certified under the EU CRA Regulation.

Similarly, in general, UK regulated investors are restricted from
using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1) issued
by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under
the UK CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating agency not
established in the UK but is endorsed by a credit rating agency
established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation
or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK
which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation.

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied by the

Issuer for: (i) its general corporate purposes, which include making a
profit; or (ii) any other purpose stated in the applicable Final Terms.
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RISK FACTORS

In purchasing Notes, investors assume of risk the Issuer becoming insolvent or otherwise being unable to
make all payments due in respect of the Notes. There is a wide range of factors which individually or
together could result in the Issuer becoming unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. It is
not possible to identify all such factors or to determine which factors are most likely to occur as the
Issuer may not be aware of all the relevant factors and certain factors which it currently deems not to be
material may become material as a result of the occurrence of events outside the Issuer's control. The
Issuer has identified in this Base Prospectus a number of factors which could materially adversely affect
its businesses and ability to make payments due under the Notes.

Although the most material risk factors have been presented first within each category, the order in which
the remaining risks are presented is not necessarily an indication of the likelihood of the risks actually
materialising, of the potential significance of the risks or of the scope of any potential negative impact to
the Issuer's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The Issuer may face a
number of these risks described below simultaneously and some risks described below may be
interdependent. While the risk factors below have been divided into categories, some risk factors could
belong in more than one category and prospective investors should carefully consider all of the risk
factors set out in this section. Prospective investors should also read the information set out elsewhere in
this Base Prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference and reach their own views,
based upon their own judgement and upon advice from such financial, legal and tax advisers as they
deem necessary, prior to making any investment decision.

RISKS RELATED TO THE ISSUER AND ITS GROUP
Risks relating to the Bank's business activity and industry

Deterioration in Poland's economic conditions could affect the Group's business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The Bank and its consolidated subsidiaries (the "Group") conduct their operations in Poland. As a result,
the macroeconomic situation in Poland has a material impact on the business, financial condition and
results of the Group's operations.

The economic situation in Poland depends on a number of factors, including measures by which a
government attempts to influence the economy, such as setting levels of taxation, expenditures or other
regulations. The economic situation in Poland is also influenced by the decisions of the relevant
regulatory bodies setting the reference rates and other regulatory ratios concerning the financial sector as
well as economic decisions made by the authorities of other countries which are Poland's key trade
partners or the pace and scale of inflow of funds from the European Union. These factors might affect the
economic growth in Poland, the situation of the labour market and the financial results of the corporate
sector

A potential prolonged economic slowdown in Poland would materially affect the Group's operations.
Higher unemployment and lower consumption, as well as fluctuations in the financial markets (including
the currency markets), may adversely affect the financial condition of the Group's customers, which
could, in turn, impair the quality and volume of the Group's loans and advance portfolios and other
financial assets and result in decreased demand for the Group's products. In addition, in volatile market
conditions, the value of assets securing loans already granted or to be granted by the Group, including real
estate, may decline significantly.

On 24 February 2022 Russia invaded Ukraine and launched a full scale military attack against Ukraine.
Russian military forces entered Ukrainian territory and, as of the date of the Base Prospectus, occupy
several cities and infrastructure sites in Ukraine. While Ukrainian and Russian negotiators have
commenced peace talks it is not yet certain how long the negotiations will take and whether they lead to a
peaceful resolution of the conflict. The war caused increased market volatility and may negatively affect
the Polish economy. In particular, the war has already caused a significant increase in prices of
commodities and fuel. This may put an additional financial strain on the Group’s customers and affect
their ability to perform their obligations towards the Group. The sanctions imposed on Russia may also
negatively affect the financial condition of the Group’s customers who conducted business in Russia or
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with Russian counterparts and who will not be able to sell their products and services on alternative
markets. The war has also caused a number of Ukrainians to seek refuge in neighbouring countries.
According to the United Nations Refugee Agency, as of 18 March 2022, at least two million Ukrainians
had fled to Poland. Such a large number of refugees may put a significant strain on the Polish public
services and may lead to increased government spending aimed at supporting the refugees. These
circumstances may negatively affect the growth of the Polish gross domestic product and increase the
Polish public debt.

The Group's business, as well as the successful implementation of its strategy, is highly dependent on the
financial situation of its customers and their ability to repay existing loans, make deposits and acquire
new financial products offered by the Group. The financial situation of Polish households, including the
Group's customers, is highly correlated with the unemployment rate. An increase in the unemployment
rate in Poland could cause an increase in the Group's expected credit losses or hinder the growth of the
Group's loans and advance portfolio. High inflation may also have a negative impact on the
creditworthiness of households, which, if prolonged, might trigger a significant increase in central banks'
interest rates, an increase of financial costs, and hence, lower disposable income.

The level of risk that is acceptable to customers may also decrease with respect to investments in
securities, investment fund units or other investment products offered by the Group. Significant volatility
or a deterioration in financial markets may discourage potential customers from buying investment
products offered by the Group and current holders may withdraw or reduce their exposure to such
products, which may have an adverse effect, in particular, on the Group's fee and commission income.

Any deterioration in economic, business, political and social conditions in Poland may have a material
adverse effect on the business, financial condition and operations of the Group.

COVID-19 could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and
financial position

A novel strain of the coronavirus causing COVID-19 ("COVID-19"), identified in China in late 2019, has
spread throughout the world, impacting Asia, Europe, the Middle East and North America. On 11 March
2020, the World Health Organisation confirmed that COVID-19's spread and severity had escalated to the
point of a pandemic. Since December 2021, a new, highly contagious variant of the coronavirus caused a
significant increase in the number of infections in Europe and North America. The outbreak has resulted
in authorities, including those in Poland, implementing numerous measures to try to contain the virus,
such as travel bans and restrictions, curfews, lockdowns, quarantines and shutdowns of businesses and
workplaces. The duration of such restrictions is highly uncertain, but could be extended, and even stricter
measures may be put in place. The consequences of these measures include increased unemployment
levels, sharp decreases and high volatility in the stock markets, disruption of global supply chains,
exchange rate volatility, and uncertainty on to the future impact in regional and global economies in the
medium and long term. These measures have also negatively impacted, and could continue to negatively
impact, businesses, market participants, the Group's counterparties and clients, and the global economy
for an extended period of time. Furthermore, it is unclear how the macroeconomic business environment
or societal norms may be impacted after the pandemic. The post-COVID-19 environment may undergo
unexpected developments or changes in the financial markets (including the level of interest rates), fiscal,
tax and regulatory environments as well as customer and corporate client behaviour, which could have an
adverse impact on the business of the Group.

Many governments and regulatory authorities, including central banks, have acted, and may further act, to
provide relief from the economic and market disruptions resulting from COVID-19, including providing
fiscal and monetary stimuli to support the global economy, lowering federal funds rates and interest rates,
and granting partial or total deferral (a grace period) of principal or interest payments due on loans.
Schemes have been initiated by both the Group and the Polish government to provide financial support to
the parts of the Polish economy most impacted by COVID-19. At this stage it is not certain what the
impact of these schemes on the Polish economy and the Group will be.

The spread of COVID-19 has led the Group to modify its operational practices, and it may take further
action if required by the authorities or if it determines that this is in the best interests of its employees,
customers and other stakeholders. There is no certainty that such measures will be sufficient to mitigate
the risks posed by COVID-19 and its subsequent consequences, and the implementation of such measures
(or their insufficiency) could harm the Group's ability to perform some of its critical functions and serve
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its customers. The pandemic and related counter-measures have affected and continue to affect some of
the Group's customers adversely, which in some cases may be material, and which could in turn have an
adverse impact on the Group (for example, through deteriorations in credit quality, higher than expected
credit losses, further impacts of a recent surge in inflation and a rise in interest rates).

The increased number of infections recorded at the end of 2021 did not result in an increased credit risk
level for the Group. The inflow of new applications for public moratoria, which provide for certain
financial relief measures, was at a very low level.

The full economic impact of COVID-19 is outside the Group's control and will depend on the spread of
the virus and the response of the local authorities and the global community.

Additionally, unprecedented movement in economic and market drivers related to COVID-19 impacted
the performance of financial models, including credit loss models, capital models, trading risk models and
models used in the asset/liability management process. This has required additional monitoring and
adjustments to comply with the guidance and recommendations of standard setters, regulators and
supervisors, particularly for credit loss models. It has also resulted in the use of mitigants for model
limitations, such as adjustments to model outputs to reflect consideration of management judgement. The
performance and usage of models have been and may continue to be impacted by the consequences of
COVID-19. While it is too early to be entirely certain of the magnitude of change required for the models
of the Group, it is likely that capital, credit risk and other models will need to be adjusted. The
effectiveness of such models will depend in large part on the depth and length of the economic downturn
and the recent inflationary and interest rates increase cycle.

Moreover, the Group's operations will continue to be impacted by risks from remote working
arrangements or bans on non-essential activities. The reliance on remote working arrangements has
increased cybersecurity risks given greater use of computer networks outside the corporate environment.
If the Group becomes unable to operate its business successfully from remote locations including, for
example, due to failures of its technology infrastructure, increased cybersecurity risks, or governmental
restrictions that affect its operations, this could result in business disruptions that could have a material
and adverse effect on its business.

The degree to which COVID-19 impacts the Group's results of operations, liquidity, access to funding
and financial position will depend on future developments, which, as at the date of this Base Prospectus,
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. These developments may include, but are not limited to, the
duration and spread of COVID-19, its severity, actions taken to contain the virus or treat its impact, the
extent and effectiveness of economic stimuli taken to contain the virus or treat its impact and how quickly
and to what extent normal economic and business activity can resume.

The Group faces increasing competition in Poland's banking industry.

The Group primarily faces competition in its universal banking activities, where its competitors include
large Polish and international banks operating in Poland's retail, corporate and investment banking
markets.

High levels of competition in the banking industry could also lead to increased pricing pressures on the
Group's products and services, which would have a material adverse effect on the business, financial
condition and results of the Group's operations. Such competition also extends to the fight for qualified
staff in important areas such as IT, digital, risk management and business intelligence.

In addition, in recent years the Polish banking sector has experienced an ongoing trend of consolidation,
which may allow certain competitors of the Group to benefit from an increased scale of operations.

The competitive position of banks, including that of the Bank, is also affected by other financial services
providers, ie entities that are not banks, but which engage in the provision of financial services. While not
regulated by the Polish Financial Supervision Authority (Komisja Nadzoru Finansowego, "the KNF"),
these entities may be able to offer potential customers more attractive terms for financial services than
regulated banks. As a result, the Polish banking sector is exposed to competition from non-regulated
entities.

Moreover, new entrants such as fintech companies providing online financial services are also
increasingly competing for customers and market share. The developing relationships between fintech
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companies and traditional banks are a noticeable trend and may have a significant impact on the existing
market structure for banking services. New entrants to the financial services market could seek to offer
those financial services that are traditionally provided by banks.

These additional competitors are likely to add pressure on margins, especially if they are able to benefit
from lower cost structures and less onerous regulatory requirements.

If the Group is unable to maintain its competitive position in the Polish banking sector, this may have a
material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks relating to the Group's financial situation
The Group may fail in implementing its strategy.
In December 2021 the Group introduced a new strategy for 2022-2024 called "Millennium 2024 Inspired

by People". In the strategy the Group defined its financial targets and five pillars that correspond to the
key components of its business model. The five pillars of the new strategy are as follows:

. top quality and extended offering for individual clients;
. bank of first choice for new microbusinesses;
. strategic partner supporting corporate development supported by innovative solutions and top-

notch customer experience in digital channels (mobile-first approach);
. sustainable organisation on the path to climate neutrality; and
. great place to work for our people and for top talent.

The Group may fail to implement its strategy in the coming years due to unfavourable market conditions
stemming from the COVID-19 pandemic or legal and regulatory impediments, an increase in competition
from other banks or simply due to changes in customer behaviour and other factors. In addition, some
internal factors may cause the Group to fail to attain its strategic objectives, including delays and
difficulties in launching new products and solutions in mobile and internet banking, problems in
developing sales of additional products to its client base, delays in implementing solutions to enhance
customer service quality, or difficulties in developing the retail or corporate segments. The occurrence of
such factors may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of the
Group's operations.

Claims of borrowers under foreign currency mortgage loans, denominated in CHF or indexed to CHF,
may adversely affect the Group's financial performance.

In the first decade of the 21st century Polish banks granted a large number of mortgages denominated in
Swiss francs or indexed to Swiss francs (the "CHF Mortgage Loans"). CHF Mortgage Loans were an
extremely popular product due to, among other things, low interest rates when compared with PLN
interest rates. Due to the rapid appreciation of CHF, the outstanding PLN equivalent of principal amounts
of CHF Mortgage Loans increased significantly. For this reason, many CHF Mortgage Loan borrowers
decided to bring an action for annulment of their CHF Mortgage Loan agreements or some of their
provisions.

On 3 October 2019, the Court of Justice of the European Union (the "CJEU"), in its judgment of Case C-
260/18 concerning a mortgage credit agreement in CHF concluded by Raiffeisen Bank Polska S.A,
indicated, among other things, that the provisions of EU law do not preclude national courts, where they
find that clauses relating to the CHF Mortgage Loan indexing mechanism are abusive, from deciding to
annul CHF Mortgage Loan contracts, having regard, however, to whether such annulment would expose
the consumer to particularly harmful consequences. At the same time, the CJEU held that national courts
cannot fill in the gaps in CHF Mortgage Loan contracts which arise after the elimination of prohibited
provisions, on the basis of provisions relating to equity or established custom. The above decision of the
CJEU also covered credits indexed to other currencies bearing an interest rate directly related to the
interbank rate of a given currency.
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In accordance with the above judgment of the CJEU, national courts should assess whether clauses
relating to a mechanism for indexing loans to foreign currencies or at an interest rate directly linked to the
interbank rate of the currency concerned are abusive and the existence of the grounds for annulment of a
credit agreement containing such mechanisms on a case-by-case basis. However, this constitutes a
precedent that may facilitate the annulment of credit agreements concluded by certain consumers before
the Polish courts.

The discussion held in the public domain in Poland concerning the above judgement also affects the
number of court disputes against the Bank. As of the end of 2019, 1,981 individual claims had been filed
against the Bank, in 2020 the number increased by 3,007, while in 2021 the number increased by 6,149.
As of 31 December 2021, only 245 of these cases had been finally resolved (210 in claims submitted by
clients against the Bank and 35 in claims submitted by the Bank against clients, i.e. debt collection cases).
60 per cent. of the finalised individual lawsuits against the Bank were resolved in the Bank’s favour,
including remissions and settlements with plaintiffs. Unfavourable rulings included both the invalidation
of loan agreements as well as conversions of disputed loans into PLN floating rate loans based on the
LIBOR rate. In recent months, the decisions of the courts of the first instance were generally in the
borrowers’ favour. The Bank is challenging the unfavourable rulings in the courts of higher instance and
the Supreme Court.

The Group's profitability is already being and may still be materially affected by the need to continue to
register reserves for legal risk, which may trigger losses that could have a negative impact on the capital
ratios of the Group and could oblige the Group to launch its recovery plan.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had PLN 12,872 million, including PLN 969 million of CHF
Mortgage Loans originated by Euro Bank S.A. ("Euro Bank"), a Polish subsidiary of Société Générale,
acquired by the Group in 2019. The exposure amounts are presented as gross of litigation provisions. As
at 31 December 2021, the disputes against the Bank concerned 11,070 loan agreements signed by the
Bank and 913 loan agreements signed by Euro Bank. 94 per cent. of these disputes were still at the court
of first instance. The total value of claims filed by the plaintiffs amounting was PLN 1,512.4 million and
CHF 121.3 million (PLN 1,391.9 million and CHF 119.0 million relating to the Bank’s portfolio and PLN
120.4 million and CHF 2.3 million concerning the Euro Bank’s portfolio). As at 31 December 2021, the
Group did not have exposures towards corporate clients denominated in, or indexed to, CHF. The Group
ceased granting CHF Mortgage Loans in December 2008. The legal risk associated with the CHF
Mortgage Loans originated by Euro Bank is covered by an indemnity agreement between the Bank and
Société Générale.

On 8 December 2020, the Chairman of the KNF proposed a solution to the Polish banking sector to
address the sector risks related to the CHF Mortgage Loans. The solution would consist in offering
banks’ clients a voluntary possibility of concluding arrangements based on which a client would settle a
CHF Mortgage Loan as if it was a PLN loan bearing interest at an appropriate WIBOR rate increased by
the margin historically employed for such loans. As of the date of this Base Prospectus, the Bank has not
taken any decision regarding the implementation of this solution, but cannot exclude implementing it in
the future. The decision to implement this solution could necessitate creating provisions for the losses
resulting from the conversion of CHF Mortgage Loans.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had an outstanding balance of provisions relating to the legal risk
associated with CHF Mortgage Loans of PLN 3,332,614 thousand. There is a risk that the Bank may be
required to increase these provisions and recognise further losses in the future.

The Court of Justice of the European Union's judgment on the right of consumers to reduce the cost of
a loan in the event of its early repayment may adversely affect the Group's financial performance.

Under the provisions of the Act dated 12 May 2011 on Consumer Credit, if a consumer loan is repaid in
whole or in part before the term specified in the facility agreement, the total cost of the loan is reduced by
those costs which relate to the period by which the term of the agreement has been shortened, even if the
consumer bore them before that repayment. In accordance with the prevailing market practice, however,
Polish banks in the past did not reimburse their customers for the commissions charged for granting those
loans in the case of early repayment of consumer loans.

In relation to that practice, in September 2019 the CJEU provided a judgment in Case C-383/18 in which
it confirmed that, in the case of the early repayment of a loan, the consumer is also entitled to
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reimbursement of the commission. This means that customers who made an early repayment of a loan are
able to demand from the banks the reimbursement of the commissions charged by such banks for granting
those loans. The mass occurrence of such a demand may have an adverse effect on the entire Polish
banking sector and, consequently, may have an adverse effect on the business, financial condition and
results of the Group's operations.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a balance of provisions relating to the above judgment in the
amount of PLN 89,091 thousand, which was estimated on the basis of the maximum amount of potential
returns and the likelihood of payment being made. In the event the number or amount of customer
demands against the Group exceeds expectations, the Group may have to increase these provisions and
satisfying such claims could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Material increases in the Group's impairment provisions on loans and advances may have an adverse
effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations

In connection with its credit operations, the Group regularly writes down impaired assets and records
expected credit losses in the profit and loss account of the Group. The total value of the Group's expected
credit losses depends on the volume and type of borrowing activity and standards applied in the banking
industry and is calculated based on the three-stage expected credit losses model, reflecting the change in
the level of risk that occurs since an exposure was recognised, including losses experienced by the Group
adjusted by expected forward-looking information, expectations on defaults in loan payments, the
economic situation and other factors connected with the repayment of various loans. It also depends on
the risk model applied by the Group, which may prove to be incorrect and result in an incorrect
assessment by the Group of the risk associated with its loan portfolios. Although the Bank's Management
Board uses its best efforts to establish an appropriate amount of expected credit losses on loans and
advances, that determination is subject to the evaluation of credit risk and may be affected by numerous
factors. The Group could be required to increase its expected credit losses on loans and advances in the
future as a result of increases in non-performing assets or for other reasons. Any material increase in the
expected credit losses on loans and advances, any loan losses in excess of the previously determined
expected credit losses on loans and advances with respect thereto or changes in the estimate of the
provision for expected losses on loans and advances could have an adverse effect on the Group's business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The value of the Group's investment and trading portfolios may decrease

The Group's portfolio of securities comprises debt and equity securities. The quality of the Group's
portfolio of securities may be affected by macroeconomic factors, the general business environment and
developments in the financial markets, and by the creditworthiness and financial position of
counterparties to the Group's transactions. The quality of debt securities held by the Group is dependent
on the ability of issuers of the securities to make payments on the securities when due, which in turn may
be affected by changes in their financial standing.

As at 31 December 2021, debt instruments issued by the State Treasury and the National Bank of Poland
accounted for 96,7 per cent. of the Group's debt securities portfolio in investment and trading securities.
A decrease in the price of such securities may occur as a result of several factors, in particular: (i) an
increased supply of such securities by the Polish government due to an increased issue of those securities
to finance the budget deficit or an increased offer of securities by investors disposing of them; or (ii)
increases in domestic interest rates; or (iii) a decrease in the credit ratings for Poland's sovereign debt; or
(iv) increased political risk and a negative perception of Poland by investors. Any decrease in the price of
such securities could adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group's portfolio includes negotiable financial instruments whose daily valuations depend on certain
market parameters (such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, prices of bonds and stocks, stock
indices values, futures prices, and implied volatilities of options). As these parameters vary continuously
according to market forces, valuations of the financial instruments also change accordingly, which may
adversely impact the unrealised results of these portfolios, even though certain components of the market
risk of those portfolios are hedged and the trading is carried out within set market risk limits. In addition,
market movements may also adversely affect realised results of the trading book. Any occurrence of any
of these factors may have an adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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The Group has significant exposure to counterparty credit risk in connection with its banking
operations

The Group is exposed to counterparty risk arising from the potential inability of its counterparties,
including corporate customers, banks and other financial institutions, to fulfil their obligations under
transactions and financial instruments entered into with the Group due to a number of factors, including,
in particular, bankruptcies, a lack of market or individual customer liquidity, economic downturns,
adverse financial and market movements (e.g. in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates,
commodity prices or the implied volatility of foreign exchange options), operational failures and
increased economic and political uncertainty. A reduction in the ability of the Group's counterparties to
fulfil such obligations, or a default by, or even concerns about the creditworthiness and financial standing
of, one or more of the Group's counterparties could have a material adverse effect on the Group's
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or prospects.

The Group has substantial assets, although decreasing, associated with foreign exchange derivatives
which include foreign exchange swaps, forwards and options conducted with other banking and non-
banking clients. These foreign exchange derivatives require the customer to provide collateral if the
instrument reaches a prescribed loss level. Due to significant changes in the PLN exchange rate against
certain foreign currencies, many customers who have purchased foreign exchange derivatives have been
unable to provide the required collateral.

Although the Group actively manages its liquidity requirements and foreign exchange position and
hedges its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks, continued foreign exchange rate volatility
of the PLN against foreign currencies could increase the pressure on the Group's counterparties and could
lead to increased defaults by the Group's counterparties and further losses incurred by the Group on its
foreign exchange derivatives. Such developments could have an adverse effect on the business, financial
condition and results of the Group's operations.

Any reduction in the credit rating of the Bank and its subsidiaries could increase its cost of funding
and adversely affect its interest margins

Credit ratings affect the cost and other terms on which the Group is able to obtain funding. A reduction in
the Group companies' credit ratings could increase the costs associated with its interbank and capital
market transactions and could adversely affect the Group's liquidity and competitive position, undermine
confidence in the Group, increase its borrowing costs and adversely affect its interest margins.
Furthermore, should the rating of the Bank be downgraded below investment grade, this could
significantly impair the operating business of the Bank, the refinancing costs of the Group and the Bank's
eligibility to act as a counterparty to derivative transactions for some market participants.

Rating agencies' assessments are driven by a number of factors, including franchise value, capitalisation,
profitability, applicable sovereign ratings, refinancing opportunities and liquidity as well as potential
parental support. Pressure on the Bank's credit ratings may arise, for example, in the event of significantly
weaker capital generation driven by poorer financial performance, a material deterioration of asset quality
in a less favourable business environment or the downgrading of the rating applicable to Poland.

A downgrading in the rating of the Bank and its subsidiaries could increase the financing costs associated
with transactions on the interbank market and could adversely affect the Group's business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The potential cessation of WIBOR may have an adverse effect on the mortgage loans portfolio in PLN
and, subsequently, on the Group's financial performance.

Under the EU Benchmarks Regulation, supervised entities other than an administrator that use a
benchmark must produce and maintain robust written plans setting out the actions they would take in the
event that a benchmark materially changes or ceases to be provided. Where feasible and appropriate, such
plans shall nominate one or several alternative benchmarks that could be referenced to substitute for the
benchmarks no longer provided, indicating why such benchmarks would be suitable alternatives. The
supervised entities must, on request, provide the relevant competent authority with those plans and any
updates and shall reflect them in the contractual relationship with clients.
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The Issuer has a significant portfolio of mortgage loans in PLN where the interest rate is a floating rate
being the sum of the Warsaw Interbank Offer Rate ("WIBOR") benchmark (with three months tenors)
and applicable margin, WIBOR may change over time depending on the current quotations on the market
and liquidity needs.

WIBOR is also the subject of recent regulatory discussions, guidance and proposals for reform. Such
reform may cause WIBOR to perform differently than in the past or disappear entirely, or have other
consequences that cannot be predicted.

Currently, there is no benchmark that could constitute an alternative to WIBOR. On 2 February 2022,
GPW Benchmark S.A., the administrator of WIBOR, announced that it intends to develop two new
benchmarks, the Warsaw Repo Rate and the Warsaw Deposit Market Index. On the date of this Base
Prospectus, it is not yet certain when these benchmarks will be implemented and whether they will
constitute a viable alternative to WIBOR. Replacing WIBOR with a new benchmark may have a negative
influence on the overall interest rate of the floating rate loans advanced by the group and, in consequence,
the financial results of the Group. The process of WIBOR transition may also result in significant
administrative and compliance costs to the Group.

The Group may not be able to improve or sustain its current interest rate margins or commissions on
loans.

The net interest income achieved by the Group depends to a large extent on the levels of the Group's
interest-bearing assets and liabilities and the average interest rates on interest-earning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities.

Various factors could affect the Group's ability to maintain credit and deposit margins as well as fees and
commissions at current levels. These factors include the evolving regulatory environment, court
judgments (for more details please see risk factors Claims of borrowers under mortgage loans
denominated in CHF or indexed to CHF may adversely affect the Group's financial performance and The
Court of Justice of the European Union judgment on the right of consumers to reduce the cost of a loan in
the event of its early repayment will adversely affect the Group's financial performance), increasing
competition in the market, changing demand for fixed and floating interest rate loans, possible changes in
monetary policy conducted by the Monetary Policy Council (the "MPC"), the level of inflation, and
changes in interest rates on interbank markets.

The Group could suffer decreasing interest rate margins for various reasons, including if:

. market interest rates on floating interest rate loans decline and the Group is unable to offset such
an effect by decreasing the rates payable on deposits;

. interest rates payable on deposits increase as a result of additional competition among banks or
other factors beyond the Group's control and the Group is unable to offset such an effect by
increasing the rates on its loans; or

. increased competition on the market and economic recovery push credit spreads down.

The Group's inability to maintain interest rate margins and commissions on loans may result in lower
net income and could materially adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of the
Group's operations.

A high proportion of long-term mortgages in the Group's loan portfolio and the increased level of fixed
new mortgage loans make it difficult for the Group to adjust its loan margins to market terms whilst any
deterioration in residential real estate prices and decreases in the value of collateral provided to the Bank
may negatively affect the Group's business, financial condition and/or results of operations.

In accordance with Polish law, neither the Bank nor any member of the Group is able to unilaterally
change the terms of granted loans and advances to individuals, including credit margins. As at 31
December 2021, gross housing and mortgage loans to individuals (retail mortgage loans) have constituted
a material part (72.1 per cent.) of the Group's total gross loans and advances to individuals. As a result,
the Group is limited in its ability to change its average credit portfolio margins through the generation of
new mortgage loans and advances reflecting current credit margins on the market compared with other
financial institutions operating on the Polish market, which have credit portfolios with a larger proportion
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of short-term loans. This limited ability to re-price its loan portfolio may adversely affect the business,
financial condition and results of the Group's operations.

When granting mortgage loans and calculating the applicable interest rates, the Group assumes a certain
level of prices of residential real property securing such loans. If sale prices of residential real property in
Poland substantially decline for any reason, the value of the Group's security may be adversely affected
and, in cases of foreclosure, the Group may not be able to recover the entire amount of the loan if the
borrowers are unable to repay them. In addition, investments in real estate are characterised by low
liquidity as compared with other types of investments and such liquidity may further deteriorate in
periods of economic downturn. The Group cannot guarantee that if the residential real estate market in
Poland deteriorates significantly, the ability to enforce its security in a timely and effective manner would
not deteriorate significantly.

The occurrence of any of the factors mentioned above may have a material adverse effect on the business,
financial condition, and/or results of operations of the Group.

The Group's risk management methods may prove ineffective at mitigating credit risk.

Losses relating to credit risk may arise if the risk management policies, procedures and assessment
methods implemented by the Group to mitigate credit risk and to protect against credit exposures prove
less effective than expected. The Group employs qualitative tools and metrics for managing risk that are
based on observed historical market behaviour. These tools and procedures may fail to predict future risk
exposures, especially in a market characterised by increased volatility and falling prices. Given the
Group's variety of lending activities, the risk management systems employed by the Group may prove
insufficient in measuring and managing risks.

The occurrence of any of the factors mentioned above may have a material adverse effect on the business,
financial condition, and/or results of the Group's operations.

The Group is exposed to operational risk related to its business activities.

Operational risk accompanies all processes at banks and its consequences can often be significant. The
Group is subject to the risk of incurring losses or unforeseen costs relating to inadequate or failed internal
processes, human error, system failures, errors relating to the outsourcing of the performance of certain
services to external service providers, and external events. Typical categories of operational loss include:
errors made during the execution of operations, record-keeping errors, business disruptions (caused by,
for example, software or hardware failures and communication breakdowns), fraud (including related to
credit cards), legal claims over transactions or operations and damage to assets. In addition, because some
of the Group's business transactions are conducted via internet platforms, the Group is exposed to third-
party attacks on its IT systems, which could result in financial or reputational loss. The Group utilises a
number of IT systems to conduct its operations. Due to the high complexity of interactions and
interdependencies among the Group's IT systems, there can be no assurance that these systems will
always properly interact with one another or will always effectively ensure error-free and timely transfers
of data within the IT structure of the Bank and the Group.

The Group also outsources the performance of specific activities on its behalf, including IT services as
well as document consignment services, cash support services, cash processing, and debt recovery to third
parties. Additionally, the Bank outsources to external service providers the performance of certain
services relating to the sale of retail banking products offered by the Bank. If any of the third parties on
which the Bank relies fail to duly perform in accordance with the terms of their agreements with the
Bank, then this could result in operational deficiencies or reputational risk for the Group. Furthermore,
the Group may be exposed to the risk of liability to its customers and reputational loss if such external
providers fail to duly perform their services or, specifically, if they perform their services in breach of
applicable law or banking regulations or if they take improper actions which result in an infringement of
third-party rights.

Additionally, failures of the Group's operational risk management system to detect or prevent operational

problems caused by third parties which prevent them from performing the activities outsourced to them
could affect the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and/or prospects.
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The occurrence of the factors described above could have a material adverse effect on the business,
financial condition and results of the Group's operations.

The Group faces liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank may be unable to meet current and future (including contingent)
payment obligations as they become due. Liquidity risk may result from internal factors (eg, the impact of
negative publicity and/or reputational damage, resulting, for instance, in excessive withdrawal of cash by
the Bank's clients or the materialisation of credit risk) and external factors (turbulence and crises in the
financial markets, country risk or disruption in the operation of clearing systems).

The Group becomes exposed to liquidity risk when the maturities of its assets and liabilities do not
coincide. In particular, the Group may be exposed to increased liquidity risk as a result of its holdings of
real estate mortgage loans, which are long-term assets. Although holdings of real estate mortgage loans
are generally covered by long and mid-term funding, they are mostly financed by short-term and on-
demand deposits.

Maturity mismatches between the Group's assets and liabilities may have a material adverse effect on the
Group's business, financial condition and results of operations if the Group is unable to obtain new
deposits or find alternative sources of funding for existing and future loan and advance portfolios.

In terms of current and short-term liquidity risk, if a substantial portion of the Bank's clients withdraw
their demand deposits or do not roll over their term deposits on maturity, as would be the case with many
other banks, the Bank's liquidity position may be adversely affected. Current liquidity may also be
affected by unfavourable financial market conditions. If assets held by the Bank to provide liquidity
become illiquid due to unforeseen financial market events or their value drops substantially, in such
circumstances the Bank may not be able to meet its obligations as they become due and therefore may be
forced to resort to interbank funding, which, in the event of an unstable market situation, may become
excessively expensive and uncertain. In addition, the Bank's ability to use such external funding sources
is directly connected with the level of credit lines available to the Bank, and this in turn is dependent on
the Bank's financial and credit condition, as well as general market liquidity.

A loss of liquidity or an inability to raise sufficient funds to finance its operations, particularly its lending
operations, may have an adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of the Group's
operations.

The Group may not be able to hire, train or retain a sufficient number of qualified personnel.

The success of the Group's business depends, among other things, on its ability to recruit and maintain
qualified personnel. The Group is dependent on high-level management to implement its strategy and
day-to-day operations. The Group endeavours to reduce the risk of losing key employees through various
measures, including in particular through management and career development measures. Despite these
measures, the Group may not succeed in attracting or retaining highly qualified employees in the future.
In Poland, there is strong competition for qualified personnel specialised in banking and finance,
especially at middle and upper management levels. Competition of this kind may increase the Group's
personnel-related costs and make it difficult to recruit and offer incentives to qualified personnel. In
addition, the Group's senior management or key employees of the Group's companies may resign or file a
termination notice at any time, which could harm the relationships the Group's companies have developed
with their customers. The Group's companies may not be able to retain such employees, and if they do
resign, the Group's companies may not be able to replace them with persons of the same ability or
experience. This could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results of
operations and/or prospects of the Group.

The Group's IT systems may fail or their security may be compromised.

The Group relies heavily on numerous IT systems for a variety of functions, including processing
applications, providing information to customers, maintaining financial records and providing crucial
financial and market data to the Bank's management board. In addition, the Group uses distribution

channels based on an IT platform comprising online banking, mobile banking and call centres.

The Group's activities involve the use and constant development of several IT platforms dedicated to the
various segments of the Group. In particular, the business model of the Bank's retail segment, which
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involves offering banking services through an online transactional system and mobile applications, is
significantly dependent on the availability, functionality and security of the Group's IT systems and, as a
result of its high reliance on online platforms, it is also particularly exposed to third-party attacks via the
internet. Malfunctions, in particular with respect to the use of and interactions between the Group's IT
platforms, information leakages, service interruptions or similar events may affect the relationship
between the Group and its customers. The Group constantly modifies and enhances the protective
measures it takes to counteract these risks. Nevertheless, there is a risk that such measures may not be
effective against all threats related to cyber-attacks, taking into account their varying nature and evolving
sophistication. A successful attack could result in material losses of client or customer information,
damage to computer systems and harm to the Group's reputation, and lead to regulatory penalties or
financial losses.

Moreover, programming errors and similar disruptions could impact the Group's ability to serve the needs
of its customers on a timely basis, interrupt the Group's operations, damage the Group's reputation or
require it to incur significant technical, legal and other expenses. In addition, the integrated IT system or
upgraded information technology systems may fail to meet the needs of the Group's growing and
changing business.

The Group is also subject to regulation in relation to the use of personal data. The Regulation (EU)
2016/679 of 27 April 2016 (the "GDPR") imposes new obligations and guidelines on companies in the
management and processing of personal data. The Group has procedures in place to ensure compliance
with the relevant data protection regulations (including the GDPR) by its employees and any third party
service providers, and has also implemented security measures to prevent cyber-theft. However, if the
Group or any of its third-party service providers fail to store or transmit customer information in a secure
manner, or if any loss or wrongful processing of personal customer data were otherwise to occur, the
Group could be subject to investigative and enforcement action by the relevant regulatory authorities and
could be subject to claims or complaints from persons to whom the data relates, or could face liability
under data protection laws. Should some or all of these risks materialise, this may have an adverse effect
on the business, financial condition and results of the Group's operations.

The Group stores and processes significant amounts of personal data and is exposed to a potential
breach of personal data protection regulations.

As part of its day-to-day operations, the Group stores and processes the personal data of its customers on
a large scale. The storage and processing of personal data by the Group must comply with the laws
governing personal data protection. From May 2018, following the entry into force of the GDPR, the
obligations related to storage and processing of personal data have been substantially expanded. The
GDPR imposes obligations and guidelines on companies in the management and processing of personal
data. Administrative fines of up to EUR 20 million, or 4 per cent. of a company's annual turnover, can be
imposed for non-compliance with the GDPR.

The Group implemented procedures to ensure compliance with the relevant data protection regulations by
its employees and any third-party service providers and also implemented security measures to prevent
cyber-theft. However, if the Group or any of its third-party service providers fail to store or transmit
customer information in a secure manner, if any loss or wrongful processing of personal customer data
were otherwise to occur, or if the Group fails to notify the regulator of personal data breaches, the Group
could be subject to investigative and enforcement actions by the relevant regulatory authorities and could
be subject to claims or complaints from the person to whom the data relates, or could face liability under
data protection laws. Furthermore, any breaches of personal data protection laws may have an adverse
effect on the reputation of the Group and as a consequence may have an adverse effect on the business,
financial condition and results of operations of the Group.

Risks relating to the Group and its relationship with BCP and its affiliates (the BCP Group)
BCP holds corporate control over the Bank.

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, Banco Comercial Portugués S.A. (the "BCP") held 607,771,505
shares, representing 50.10 per cent. of the Bank's share capital, which gives BCP the right to exercise
50.10 per cent. of the total number of votes at the Bank's General Shareholders' Meeting.
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BCP is able to exercise corporate control over the Bank due to its share in the capital of the Bank and in
the total number of votes at the General Meeting. In particular, BCP has majority voting power at the
General Meeting, and thus has a decisive voice regarding major corporate decisions, such as amendments
of the Articles of Association, the issuance of new shares of the Bank, decreases in the Bank's share
capital, the issuance of convertible bonds and the payment of dividends. In addition, BCP holds a
sufficient number of votes to appoint a majority of members of the Supervisory Board, which, in turn,
appoints the members of the Management Board. As a result, BCP has the ability to exercise considerable
control over the Bank's operations.

If there is a conflict between the interests of BCP and the interests of the Group, this could have an
adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of the Group's operations.

The Bank's shareholders are not required to support the Bank.

The Bank is an independent entity from its principal shareholder, ie BCP. BCP is not obliged to provide
support and finance to the Group in the future, in particular to subscribe for newly issued shares in any
future equity offering or to ensure debt financing for the Group. If the Bank needs further equity
injections or debt financing, or if a significant decrease in BCP's shareholding in the Bank in the future
were to occur, the lack of financial support from BCP may have a negative reputational effect on the
Group. A loss of control over the Bank by BCP in the future may also lead to negative consequences
resulting from the agreements based on which the Group obtained debt financing, in particular the
potential necessity to repay such debt financing earlier. The occurrence of any of these situations may
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Litigation, administrative or other proceedings or actions may adversely affect the Group's business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Due to the nature of its business, the Group may be exposed to a risk of court, administrative or other
proceedings being instituted against it by customers, employees, sharcholders and other persons in
connection with its business.

The outcome of litigation or similar proceedings or actions is difficult to assess or quantify. Plaintiffs in
these types of actions against the Bank or the Group's companies may seek recovery in large or
indeterminate amounts or other remedies that may affect the ability of the Bank or the Group companies'
to conduct their business, and the magnitude of the potential losses relating to such actions may remain
unknown for substantial periods of time. The costs of defending future actions may be significant. There
may also be negative publicity associated with litigation against particular Group companies that could
damage the reputation of the Group or the particular Group companies concerned, regardless of whether
the allegations are valid or whether the Group is ultimately found liable.

As a result, litigation, administrative and other proceedings may adversely affect the Group's business,
financial condition and results of operations. As at 31 December 2021, the value of the Group's provisions
for legal claims not related to the CHF Mortgage Loans was PLN 135.4 million.

Risks related to legal and regulatory environment

The Bank and the Group may be unable to satisfy its or their required minimum capital adequacy
ratios or minimum requirement for eligible liabilities.

Increasing capital requirements constitute one of the Bank's main regulatory challenges and they may
adversely affect the Bank's profitability. In addition, there would be significant operational and regulatory
risk in the event of any possibility of failure to maintain required capital levels.

The adequacy assessment of the Group's capital base (including, among others, the calculation of capital
ratios and the leverage ratio, own funds and the total capital requirement) is made according to a number
of European and Polish regulations, including:

. Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access
to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and
investment firms (as amended, the "Capital Requirements Directive'") and Regulation (EU) No.
575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 with further
amendments on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and
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amending Regulation (EU) No. 648/2012 (as amended, the "CRR" and, together with the Capital
Requirements Directive, the "CRD"); and

. Regulation (EU) No. 2019/876, Directive (EU) No. 2019/878, Directive (EU) No. 2019/879 and
Regulation (EU) No. 2019/877 which came into force on 27 June 2019 (the "EU Banking
Reform Legislation"), with certain provisions applying from 27 June 2019 and other provisions
gradually being phased in and/or being subject to national implementation.

The CRD introduced a number of fundamental reforms to the regulatory capital framework for
internationally active banks, the principal elements of which were set out in Basel III.

The EU Banking Reform Legislation has covered multiple areas, including the capital ratio framework,
the leverage ratio, mandatory restrictions on distributions, permission for reducing own funds and eligible
liabilities, macroprudential tools, the MREL (as defined below) framework and the integration of the
minimum total loss-absorbing capacity into EU legislation.

The minimum levels of mandatory capital adequacy ratios for banks in Poland, specified by the KNF in
line with the CRD regime, are:

. the capital requirement arising from CRR — a Total Capital Ratio (the "TCR") of 8 per cent. and
a Tier 1 capital ratio of 6 per cent.;

. a combined buffer requirement, which includes a capital conservation buffer, a countercyclical
capital buffer, an O-SII buffer (individual for particular banks) and a systemic risk buffer;

. an additional own funds requirements in Pillar II ("P2R");

. on top of the mandatory level of capital adequacy ratio, an additional expectation for own funds
under Pillar IT ("P2G") can be requested by the KNF.

Taking into account the capital buffers and capital add-on, as at 31 December 2021 the required minimum
capital ratios for the Bank at the individual level were 13.57 per cent. for TCR and 10.86 per cent. for
Tier 1 capital ratio. At the consolidated Group level, the required minimum capital ratios are 13.54 per
cent. for TCR and 10.84 per cent. for Tier 1 capital ratio. As of the date of this Base Prospectus the
additional P2G expectation was set on top of above TCR minimum requirements and the level of P2G
expectation on top of the TCR level was 0.89 per cent. in 2022. On the date of this Base Prospectus, the
capital adequacy ratios reported by the Bank were above the minimum levels required by KNF on both
the individual and consolidated levels. However, certain developments could affect the Group's ability to
continue to satisfy the minimum capital adequacy requirements, including:

. an increase in the Group's total risk exposure amount as a result of the rapid expansion of its
business or depreciation of the PLN against the foreign currencies in which a part of the Group's

assets are denominated;

. deterioration of asset quality leading to a higher level of regulatory expected loss, which would
cause an increased amount of capital deductions;

. the Bank's ability to raise capital;

. losses resulting from a deterioration in the Group's asset quality, a reduction in income levels, an
increase in expenses or a combination of all of the above;

. a decline in the values of the Group's securities portfolio;

. changes in accounting rules or in the guidelines regarding the calculation of the capital adequacy
ratios of banks; and

. additional capital requirements or changes in the minimum capital requirements imposed by the
Bank's regulator.
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The Group's ability to raise additional capital may be limited by numerous factors, including:

. the Group's future financial condition, results of operations and cash flows;

. any necessary government regulatory approvals;

. the financial condition of the Bank's majority shareholder;

. financial market disruptions;

. the Bank's credit rating;

. general market conditions for capital-raising activities by commercial banks and other financial

institutions; and
. domestic and international economic, political and other conditions.

In addition to the above, the CRR Regulation also includes a requirement for the Bank to maintain the
leverage ratio (the "LR"), the liquidity coverage ratio (the "LCR") and the net stable funding ratio
requirements (the "NSFR") introduced under the CRR II. As of 31 December 2021, the LR, LCR and the
NSFR with respect to the Bank were above the minimum levels required by the CRR.

Furthermore, Art. 45 of the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (the "BRRD") provides that
Member States shall ensure that institutions meet, at all times, a minimum requirement for own funds and
eligible liabilities (the "MREL"). The MREL shall be calculated as the amount of own funds and eligible
liabilities expressed as a percentage of the total risk exposure amount. Under the current guidelines, the
deadline for meeting the first binding mid-term MREL-total risk-weighted exposure amount (the
"MREL-TREA") the first target was set for 31 December 2021. For 31 March 2022 the target was set at
the level of 15.60 per cent. and the final MREL-TREA target must be met on 31 December 2023 at the
level of 20.42 per cent.

A breach of existing laws relating to minimum capital adequacy ratios or MREL requirements may result
in entities in the Group being subject to administrative sanctions, which may result in an increase in the
operating costs of the Group, loss of reputation, and may, consequently, it may have an adverse effect on
the business, financial condition and results of the Group's operations. The Group may also be subject to
restrictions on its ability to pay discretionary distributions to holders of Tier 1 capital which may have an
adverse effect on the Group’s ability to raise capital or funding to support its operations.

The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive implemented into Polish law may adversely affect the
Group's business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

Based on the reform measures developed by the Financial Stability Board (Effective Resolution of
Systemically Important Financial Institutions) and Basel 111, the European Parliament and the Council of
the European Union adopted the BRRD. The aim of the BRRD is to minimise the burden on taxpayers in
the event of failures on the part of banks to meet their obligations while ensuring that shareholders and
creditors bear the costs thereof.

Under the BRRD, the resolution authorities are vested with the necessary powers to apply resolution tools
to institutions that meet the applicable conditions for resolution. The resolution tools include, inter alia,
the instrument of "bail-in", which gives resolution authorities the power to write down the claims of the
unsecured creditors of a failing institution and to convert debt claims to equity without the consent of the
creditors. The resolution authorities are also vested with the power to write down "relevant capital
instruments" in full and on a permanent basis or to convert them in full into common equity Tier 1
instruments before any resolution action is taken if and when one or more specific circumstances apply,
such as the determination by the relevant resolution authority that the institution meets the conditions for
resolution and that the institution concerned has reached the point of "non-viability". A write-down
follows the allocation of losses and in reverse order to the order in which claims are settled in bankruptcy
proceedings so that equity absorbs the losses in full before any debt claim is subject to write-down.

Under the BRRD, the costs of resolution are to be borne by the banking sector. The Member States
should set up their own financing arrangements funded with contributions from banks and investment
firms made by those entities proportionally to their liabilities and risk profile. Banks ought to contribute
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annually in relation to their share of specific liabilities in the total size of the national financial sector to
reach a target funding level of at least 1 per cent. of deposits (over a ten-year period). If the ex-ante funds
are insufficient to cover the resolution of a financial institution, further contributions will be raised ex-
post.

The relevant regulations of the BRRD were implemented in Poland under the Act dated 10 June 2016 on
the Bank Guarantee Fund, the Deposit Guarantee Scheme and Mandatory Restructuring (the "Act on the
Bank Guarantee Fund"). The Act on the Bank Guarantee Fund modified the legal framework of the
deposit guarantee scheme in Poland operated by the Bank Guarantee Fund (Bankowy Fundusz
Gwarancyjny, "BGF") and developed a framework allowing for the orderly resolution of financial
institutions. The Act on the Bank Guarantee Fund also repealed the existing restructuring and support
measures under Polish law to bring the relevant provisions in line with the BRRD framework. In this
respect, the Act on the Bank Guarantee Fund amended several other related legal acts, including
legislation on financial instruments, insolvency, financial market supervision and recapitalisation of
financial institutions. The Bank must comply with the Act on the Bank Guarantee Fund and has adjusted
its operations to comply with the new requirements.

The introduction of the new regulations and the resulting changes in the regulatory requirements may
have an adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes to or an increase in the regulation of the financial services and banking industry in Poland
and internationally could have an adverse effect on the Group's business.

Regulations governing the banking and financial services industries in Poland and internationally are
likely to increase, particularly in the current market environment where supervisors have recently moved
to tighten regulations governing financial institutions. As a result of these and other ongoing and possible
future changes in the financial services regulatory landscape (including requirements imposed on the
Group as a result of governmental or regulatory initiatives, such as the recommendations of the European
Banking Authority, the European Central Bank or other bodies of the European Union, the
recommendations of the KNF and new or updated regulations from the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision), the Group may face greater regulation in Poland and other countries in which it conducts
operations. Compliance with such changes may increase its capital requirements and costs, heighten
disclosure requirements, hinder its ability to enter into or carry out certain types of transactions, affect the
Group's strategy and limit or require modification of the rates or fees that it charges on certain loan and
other products, any of which could lower the return ratio on its investments, assets and equity. The Group
may thus face increased compliance costs and limitations on its ability to pursue certain business
opportunities.

As a result of new recommendations from the KNF, as well as other possible changes in existing
recommendations and the issuance of new recommendations affecting supervision, the Bank may become
subject to more onerous and strict supervision, increased capital adequacy requirements, changes in its
risk model and risk management or be required to incur additional costs, and could be subject to
restrictions on certain types of transactions.

The occurrence of any of the above-mentioned factors may affect the Group's strategy, its growth
potential, its fees and commissions and profit margins and, consequently, could have a material adverse
effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank may be required to implement a recovery plan or other early intervention measures under
the Act dated 29 August 1997 Banking Law (the '"Banking Law").

If the Bank breaches the applicable regulatory ratios or there is a risk of such breach or the financial
situation of the Bank deteriorates significantly, the Bank's Management Board shall notify the KNF, and
the BGF may need to ensure the implementation of a recovery plan. In such situations the KNF can also
undertake supervisory measures against the Bank itself. The KNF may request a recovery plan or
restructuring its liabilities, may come to the conclusion that some of the Bank's activities are prohibited or
restricted, it may recall one or more members of the Bank's Management Board or a trustee appointed by
the KNF, or it may request a change in the Bank's business strategy.
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The above actions, if taken by the KNF against the Bank, may have a significant impact on the Bank and
on the implementation of its business strategy. The risk of requiring the implementation of a recovery
plan would increase if the banks in Poland converted CHF mortgage loans into PLN at preferential rates.

The Bank may be required to make substantial mandatory contributions, including contributions to the
Bank Guarantee Fund and the Borrowers' Support Fund.

Under the provisions of the Act on the Bank Guarantee Fund, the Bank is a member of a mandatory
guarantee scheme and is obliged to contribute to a deposit guarantee fund and a resolution fund.

Since 2017, the amount of contributions to the bank guarantee fund and the resolution fund is calculated
by the BGF individually for each bank. Contributions to the deposit guarantee fund are paid quarterly.
The basis for calculating contributions for a given quarter is the value of the covered deposits in a bank, at
the end of the quarter immediately preceding the quarter to which the contribution relates. Contributions
to the banks' resolution funds are paid once a year. The basis for calculating contributions is the sum of a
bank's liabilities (net of own funds and covered deposits) as at the last approved annual financial
statements before 31 December of the year preceding the year of contribution and the institution's risk
profile, taking into account the risk assessment in the areas of risk exposure, stability and diversity of
funding sources, importance of the institution to the stability of the financial system or the economy, and
additional indicators defined at the national level.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the value of the Group's BGF contribution for both funds
amounted to PLN 118.2 million, compared with PLN 167.2 million in 2020.

Due to the relatively large scale of the Bank's operations, if a member of the mandatory guarantee scheme
were to declare bankruptcy, the Bank may be obliged to make larger payments to the BGF than other
members of the deposit guarantee system.

The Group may fail to comply with, or be subject to changes in, certain regulatory requirements
applicable to banking and other regulated business, or with the guidelines set forth by the financial
supervisory authorities on the markets where the Group is present.

Apart from its banking operations, the Group also renders other regulated financial services and offers
transactional banking products, products relating to the market for financial instruments and insurance
products that are subject to the supervision of the KNF, the authority supervising financial markets,
including the banking sector in Poland and other relevant authorities in the jurisdictions where it operates.
The scope of supervision and regulation of these products and services is also dependent on directives and
regulations issued by European regulatory authorities.

The increasing number and ambiguity of certain regulatory requirements, and their application to the
Group in the markets where the Group is present, together with changes to the regulatory requirements
and guidelines, has placed an increased burden on the Bank and other Group entities to amend their
internal policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the competent supervisory authorities and
EU directives and regulations, which in some cases may have led to instances of non-compliance of the
Bank and other Group entities. In addition, the requirements and obligations stemming from different
jurisdictions and the application thereof may be unclear and contradictory and in some cases may have
led to instances of non-compliance by the Bank and other Group entities.

Uncertainty with regard to the new rules and guidelines during the period in which they are implemented
in the jurisdictions relevant to the Group, as well as potential further changes to European or Polish
banking regulations, may impact the Group's ability to access capital or carry out certain business
activities.

A failure to satisfy these requirements may expose the Bank or other Group entities to sanctions, fines
and other penalties, which may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and
results of the Group's operations.
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The KNF or the Office for Competition and Consumer Protection may identify issues during
inspections of the Bank in the future which, if not adequately resolved by the Bank, may result in
sanctions, fines or other penalties.

In the course of its activities, the Group is subject to numerous inspections, reviews, audits and
explanatory proceedings conducted by various supervisors who oversee the financial services sector and
other areas in which the Group operates, including the KNF and the Office for Competition and
Consumer Protection (the "OCCP"). Each year, the Bank is subject to various types of supervisory
interactions in the form of inspections and other control activities. Recommendations issued by the
supervisory authorities as a result of these activities are implemented in accordance with the schedules
declared by the Bank and accepted by the supervisory authorities.

If any irregularities are found by these supervisory authorities and the Bank fails to remedy them
(provided that such possibility is given) the Bank may be exposed to sanctions, fines and other penalties
as prescribed by the Banking Law and consumer protection regulations. This could affect the business,
financial condition and results of the Group's operations.

Interpretation of Polish tax law regulations may be unclear and Polish tax laws and regulations may
change.

The Polish tax system is subject to frequent changes. Some provisions of Polish tax law are ambiguous
and often there is no unanimous or uniform interpretation of law or uniform practice by the tax
authorities. Because of different interpretations of Polish tax law, the risk connected with Polish tax law
may be greater than that under other tax jurisdictions in more developed markets. The Bank cannot
guarantee that the Polish tax authorities will not take a different, unfavourable, interpretation of tax
provisions implemented by the Bank or any Group member, which may have an adverse effect on the
business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group.

RISKS RELATED TO NOTES

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features
which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common
such features.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the
Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner
which achieves a similar effective return.

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the
Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially
above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on
the Notes. At such times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at
an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed, and may only be able to
do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other
investments available at that time.

If the Issuer has the right to convert the interest rate on any Notes from a fixed rate to a floating rate,
or vice versa, this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which may bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a
floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Where the Issuer has the right to effect such a
conversion, this will affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may
be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer
converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate in such circumstances, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate
Notes may be less favourable than the prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the
same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other
Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate in such circumstances, the fixed rate may
be lower than the prevailing market rates.
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Risks relating to Reset Notes.

Reset Notes will initially bear interest at the Initial Rate of Interest until (but excluding) the First Reset
Date. On the First Reset Date, the Second Reset Date (if applicable) and each Subsequent Reset Date (if
any) thereafter, the interest rate will be reset to the sum of the applicable Mid-Swap Rate and the First
Margin or Subsequent Margin (as applicable) as determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant
Reset Determination Date (each such interest rate, a "Subsequent Reset Rate"). The Subsequent Reset
Rate for any Reset Period could be less than the Initial Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate for
prior Reset Periods and could affect the market value of an investment in the Reset Notes.

Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in
response to changes in market interest rates.

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or premium
to their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do
prices for more conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of such
securities, the greater the price volatility as compared with more conventional interest-bearing securities
having comparable maturities.

Risks related to Notes which are linked to or referencing “benchmarks”

The regulation and reform of benchmarks may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or
referencing such benchmarks.

The Euro Interbank Offered Rate (the "EURIBOR") and other interest rates or other types of rates and
indices which are deemed to be benchmarks are the subject of ongoing national and international
regulatory discussions and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others
are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the
past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence
could have a material adverse effect on any Notes referencing such a benchmark.

The EU Benchmarks Regulation applies, subject to certain transitional provisions, to the provision of
benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the EU.
Among other things, it (i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-
EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents
certain uses by EU supervised entities (such as the Issuer) of benchmarks of administrators that are not
authorised or registered.

Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 as it forms part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of
the EUWA (the "UK Benchmarks Regulation") applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution
of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the UK. Similarly, it prohibits the use in
the UK by UK supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised by the FCA or
registered on the FCA register (or, if non-UK based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

The EU Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, could have a material
impact on any Notes linked to EURIBOR or another benchmark rate or index, in particular, if the
methodology or other terms of the benchmark are changed in order to comply with the terms of the EU
Benchmark Regulation or UK Benchmark Regulation, and such changes could (amongst other things)
have the effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level, or affecting the volatility of the published rate
or level, of the benchmark. More broadly, any of the international, national or other proposals for reform,
or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of
administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a benchmark and complying with any such
regulations or requirements. Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market participants from
continuing to administer or contribute to certain "benchmarks," trigger changes in the rules or
methodologies used in certain "benchmarks" or lead to the discontinuance or unavailability of quotes of
certain "benchmarks".

As an example of such benchmark reforms, on 21 September 2017, the European Central Bank
announced that it would be part of a new working group tasked with the identification and adoption of a
"risk free overnight rate" which can serve as a basis for an alternative to current benchmarks used in a
variety of financial instruments and contracts in the euro area. On 13 September 2018, the working group
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on Euro risk-free rates recommended the new Euro short-term rate ("€STR") as the new risk-free rate for
the euro area. The €STR was published for the first time on 2 October 2019. Although EURIBOR has
subsequently been reformed in order to comply with the terms of the Benchmark Regulation, it remains
uncertain as to how long it will continue in its current form, or whether it will be further reformed or
replaced with €STR or an alternative benchmark.

The elimination of EURIBOR or any other benchmark, or changes in the manner of administration of any
benchmark, could require or result in an adjustment to the interest calculation provisions of the
Conditions or result in adverse consequences to holders of any Notes linked to such benchmark (including
Floating Rate Notes whose interest rates are linked to EURIBOR or any other such benchmark that is
subject to reform). Furthermore, even prior to the implementation of any changes, uncertainty as to the
nature of alternative reference rates and as to potential changes to such benchmark may adversely affect
such benchmark during the term of the relevant Notes (linked to, referencing, or otherwise dependent (in
whole or in part) upon, a benchmark), the return on the relevant Notes and the trading market for
securities (including the Notes) based on the same benchmark.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the
potential risks imposed by the EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation or any
of the international or national benchmark reforms in making any investment decision with respect to any
Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

The Conditions of the Notes provide that, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event or
Benchmark Transition Event, certain fallback arrangements will apply, which may affect the
calculation of interest amounts

The Conditions of the Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published
benchmark (including any page on which such benchmark may be published (or any other successor
service)) becomes unavailable or a Benchmark Event or a Benchmark Transition Event (each as defined
in the Conditions), as applicable, otherwise occurs. Such an event may be deemed to have occurred prior
to the issue date for a Series of Notes. Such fallback arrangements include the possibility that the rate of
interest could be set by reference to a successor rate or an alternative rate and that such successor rate or
alternative reference rate may be adjusted (if required) in accordance with the recommendation of a
relevant governmental body or in order to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the
circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to investors arising out of the
replacement of the relevant benchmark, although the application of such adjustments to the Notes may
not achieve this objective. Any such changes may result in the Notes performing differently (which may
include payment of a lower interest rate) than if the original benchmark continued to apply. In certain
circumstances the ultimate fallback of interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the rate of
interest for the last preceding Interest Period being used.

This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which
was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the
availability of successor rates and alternative reference rates and the involvement of an Independent
Adpviser (as defined in the Conditions) in certain circumstances, the relevant fallback provisions may not
operate as intended at the relevant time.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any such
Notes.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the
potential risks arising from the possible cessation or reform of certain reference rates in making any
investment decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

The market continues to develop in relation to risk-free rates (including overnight rates) as reference
rates for Floating Rate Notes.

The use of risk-free rates - including those such as the Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA"), the
Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") and the euro short-term rate ("€STR"), as reference rates for
Eurobonds continues to develop. This relates not only to the substance of the calculation and the
development and adoption of market infrastructure for the issuance and trading of bonds referencing such
rates, but also to how widely such rates and methodologies might be adopted.
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The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of risk-free rates that differs
significantly from that set out in the Conditions and used in relation to Notes that reference risk-free rates
issued under this Programme. The Issuer may in the future also issue Notes referencing SONIA, the
SONIA Compounded Index, SOFR, the SOFR Compounded Index or €STR that differ materially in
terms of interest determination when compared with any previous Notes issued by it under this
Programme. The development of risk-free rates for the Eurobond markets could result in reduced liquidity
or increased volatility, or could otherwise affect the market price of any Notes that reference a risk-free
rate issued under this Programme from time to time.

In addition, the manner of adoption or application of risk-free rates in the Eurobond markets may differ
materially compared with the application and adoption of risk-free rates in other markets, such as the
derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the
adoption of such reference rates in the bond, loan and derivatives markets may impact any hedging or
other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or
disposal of Notes referencing such risk-free rates.

In particular, investors should be aware that several different methodologies (including "shift", "lag", and
"lock-out" methodologies) have been used in risk-free rate notes issued to date. No assurance can be given
that any particular methodology, including the compounding formula in the terms and conditions of the
Notes, will gain widespread market acceptance. In addition, market participants and relevant working
groups are still exploring alternative reference rates based on risk-free rates, including various ways to
produce term versions of certain risk-free rates (which seek to measure the market's forward expectation
of an average of these reference rates over a designated term, as they are overnight rates) or different
measures of such risk-free rates.

If the relevant risk-free rates do not prove to be widely used in securities like the Notes, the trading price
of such Notes linked to such risk-free rates may be lower than those of Notes referencing indices that are
more widely used. The nascent development of overnight rates as interest reference rates for the bond
markets and the market infrastructure for adopting such rates could result in reduced liquidity or increased
volatility or could otherwise adversely affect the market price of any such Notes issued under the
Programme from time to time.

Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any Notes
which reference SONIA, SOFR, €STR or any related indices.

Risk-free rates may differ from interbank offered rates in a number of material respects and have a
limited history.

Risk-free rates may differ from interbank offered rates in a number of material respects. These include
(without limitation) being backwards-looking, in most cases, calculated on a compounded or weighted
average basis, risk-free, overnight rates and, in the case of SOFR, secured, whereas such interbank
offered rates are generally expressed on the basis of a forward-looking term, are unsecured and include a
risk-element based on interbank lending. As such, investors should be aware that risk-free rates may
behave materially differently to interbank offered rates as interest reference rates for the Notes.
Furthermore, SOFR is a secured rate that represents overnight secured funding transactions, and therefore
will perform differently over time to an unsecured rate. For example, since publication of SOFR began on
3 April 2018, daily changes in SOFR have, on occasion, been more volatile than daily changes in
comparable benchmarks or other market rates.

Risk-free rates offered as alternatives to interbank offered rates also have a limited history. For that
reason, future performance of such rates may be difficult to predict based on their limited historical
performance. The level of such rates during the term of the Notes may bear little or no relation to
historical levels. Prior observed patterns, if any, in the behaviour of market variables and their relation to
such rates such as correlations, may change in the future. Investors should not rely on historical
performance data as an indicator of the future performance of such risk-free rates nor should they rely on
any hypothetical data.

Furthermore, interest on Notes which reference a backwards-looking risk-free rate is only capable of
being determined immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for
investors in Notes which reference such risk-free rates reliably to estimate the amount of interest which
will be payable on such Notes, and some investors may be unable or unwilling to trade such Notes
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without changes to their IT systems, both of which could adversely impact the liquidity of such Notes.
Further, in contrast to Notes linked to interbank offered rates, if Notes referencing backwards-looking
rates become due and payable as a result of an Event of Default or are otherwise redeemed early on a date
which is not an Interest Payment Date, the final Rate of Interest Rate payable in respect of such Notes
shall be determined by reference to a shortened period ending immediately prior to the date on which the
Notes become due and payable or are scheduled for redemption.

The administrator of SONIA, SOFR or €STR or any related indices may make changes that could
change the value of SONIA, SOFR or €STR or any related index, or discontinue SONIA, SOFR or
€STR or any related index.

The Bank of England, the Federal Reserve, Bank of New York or the European Central Bank (or their
successors) as administrators of SONIA (and the SONIA Compounded Index), SOFR (and the SOFR
Compounded Index) or €STR, respectively, may make methodological or other changes that could change
the value of these risk-free rates and/or indices, including changes related to the method by which such
risk-free rate is calculated, eligibility criteria applicable to the transactions used to calculate SONIA,
SOFR or €STR, or timing related to the publication of SONIA, SOFR or €STR or any related indices. In
addition, the administrator may alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of SONIA,
SOFR or €STR or any related index (in which case a fallback method of determining the interest rate on
the Notes will apply). The administrator has no obligation to consider the interests of Noteholders when
calculating, adjusting, converting, revising or discontinuing any such risk-free rate.

Risks related to Notes generally

Notes may be required to absorb losses as a result of statutory powers conferred on the Relevant
Resolution Authority.

The Noteholders are subject to the risk that the Notes may be required to absorb losses as a result of
statutory powers conferred on the Relevant Resolution Authority.

The BRRD contains various resolution tools and powers which may be used alone or in combination
where the Relevant Resolution Authority considers that (a) a relevant entity is failing or likely to fail, (b)
there is no reasonable prospect that any alternative private sector measures would prevent the failure of
such relevant entity within a reasonable timeframe, and (c) a resolution action is in the public interest.
The powers provided to the Relevant Resolution Authority under the BRRD include, among others, a
statutory write-down and conversion power that can be used to ensure that tier 1 and tier 2 subordinated
capital instruments (which could include Tier 2 Subordinated Notes) fully absorb losses at the point of
non-viability of an institution or its group and before any resolution action is taken. There is also a
separate resolution tool, the "bail-in tool", which gives the Relevant Resolution Authority the power to
cancel all or a portion of the principal amount of, or interest on, certain unsecured liabilities and to
convert certain unsecured debt claims (including Notes) to equity, which equity could also be subject to
any future write-down. The bail-in tool can be used to recapitalise an institution that is failing or likely to
fail, allowing authorities to restructure it through the resolution process and restore its viability after
reorganisation and restructuring. Under the BRRD the point of non-viability of a resolution entity is the
point at which the relevant resolution authority determines that the resolution entity or its group: (i) meets
conditions for resolution; or (ii) will no longer be viable unless the relevant instruments (such as Notes
issued under the Programme) are written down or converted into equity; (iii) requires extraordinary public
financial support in any case other than to remedy a serious disturbance in the economy of an EEA
member state and to preserve financial stability; or (iv) infringes or, in the near future, will infringe its
consolidated prudential requirements in a way that would justify action by the resolution authority.

In addition, the powers granted to the Relevant Resolution Authority under the BRRD include the
following resolution tools: (i) to direct the sale of the relevant financial institution or the whole or part of
its business on commercial terms without requiring the consent of the shareholders or compliance with
the procedural requirements that would otherwise apply, (ii) to transfer all or part of the business of the
relevant financial institution to a "bridge bank" (a publicly controlled entity), and (iii) to transfer the
assets of the relevant financial institution to an asset management vehicle to allow them to be managed
over time. The BRRD also grants powers to enable the Relevant Resolution Authority to implement the
resolution tools, including the power to replace or substitute the relevant financial institution as obligor in
respect of debt instruments, the power to modify the terms of debt instruments (including altering the
maturity and/or the amount of interest payable and/or imposing a temporary suspension on payments),
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and/or the power to discontinue the listing and admission to trading of financial instruments. Any
application of the "bail-in" power shall be in accordance with the hierarchy of claims in normal
insolvency proceedings. Accordingly, the impact of such application on Noteholders will depend on their
ranking in accordance with such hierarchy, including any priority given to other creditors such as
depositors.

As a result, the BRRD contemplates that resolution authorities may require the permanent write-down of
such capital instruments (which write-down may be in full) or the conversion of them into common
equity tier 1 instruments at the point of non-viability (which common equity Tier 1 instruments may also
be subject to any application of the general bail-in tool described above) and before any other bail-in or
resolution tool can be used. The application of any non-viable loss-absorption measure may result in
Noteholders losing some or all of their investment. The exercise of any such power may be inherently
unpredictable and may depend on a number of factors which may be outside the Issuer's control.

While the BRRD provides for compensation to be paid to certain creditors (which may in certain cases be
given in the form of equity shares) who receive less in a resolution of a relevant entity than they would
have received had that entity been allowed to enter into normal insolvency proceedings (known as the "no
creditor worse off' or "NCWO" protection), there can be no guarantee that any Noteholder or
Couponholder will be eligible to receive compensation for any losses in respect of their Notes, or that any
compensation received will cover their losses on their Notes in full.

Under the terms of the Notes, investors will agree to be bound by and consent to the exercise of any
bail-in power.

The Notes may be subject to the exercise, in the future, of a bail-in power by the Relevant Resolution
Authority and the Notes include a contractual consent to the application of the bail-in power and,
consequently, investors may lose part or all of their investment in the Notes (see Condition 20
(Acknowledgment of Bail-in and Loss Absorption Powers).

By acquiring Notes, each Noteholder acknowledges, accepts, consents and agrees to be bound by (a) the
effect of the exercise of any bail-in power by the Relevant Resolution Authority that may include and
result in any of the following, or some combination thereof: (i) the reduction of all, or a portion, of the
principal amount of, or any interest on, the Notes or any other outstanding amounts due under, or in
respect of, the Notes; (ii) the conversion of all, or a portion, of the principal amount of, or any interest on,
the Notes or any other outstanding amounts due under, or in respect of, the Notes into shares, other
securities or other obligations of the Issuer or another person (and the issue to or conferral on the
Noteholder of such shares, securities or obligations), including by means of an amendment, modification
or variation of the terms of the Notes; (iii) the cancellation of the Notes; and (iv) the amendment or
alteration of the maturity of the Notes or amendment of the amount of interest payable on the Notes, or
the date on which the interest becomes payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period;
and (b) the variation of the terms of the Notes, if necessary, to give effect to the exercise of any bail-in
power by the Relevant Resolution Authority. The exercise of any such powers or any suggestion of, or
perception of there being an increased likelihood of, such exercise could materially adversely affect the
rights of Noteholders, the price or value of the Notes or the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations
under the Notes.

Remedies in case of default in respect of Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes, Senior
Subordinated Notes or in the case of Tier 2 Subordinated Notes are severely limited.

The Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes, Senior Subordinated Notes and Tier 2
Subordinated Notes will contain limited enforcement events relating to:

(1) non-payment by the Issuer of any amounts due under the Notes. In such circumstances, as
described in more detail in Condition 10.3 (Events of Default relating to Senior MREL Notes,
Senior Non-Preferred Notes or Senior Subordinated Notes and Tier 2 Subordinated Notes) of the
Conditions and subject as provided below, a Noteholder may prove or claim in the bankruptcy or
liquidation of the Issuer; and

(i1) the bankruptcy or the winding-up or liquidation of the Issuer, whether in Poland or any other
relevant jurisdiction. In such circumstances, as described in more detail in in Condition 10.3
(Events of Default relating to Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes or Senior
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Subordinated Notes and Tier 2 Subordinated Notes) of the Conditions, a Noteholder may declare
its Notes to be due and payable at their principal amount (or such other redemption amount as
may be specified in the applicable Final Terms), and prove or claim in the bankruptcy or
liquidation of the Issuer. However, in each case, the Noteholder, may claim payment in respect
of such Note only in the winding up or liquidation or, as the case may be, bankruptcy or
liquidation of the Issuer.

In either case however, Noteholders will not have any rights to petition for the bankruptcy or liquidation
of the Issuer under Polish law, as only the KNF and the BGF are authorised to file an insolvency
application concerning a Polish bank. Noteholders are therefore dependent upon action being taken by a
third party before they have any right to declare their Notes due and payable or have any ability to prove
or claim in the bankruptcy or liquidation of the Issuer.

The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity at the Issuer's option for taxation reasons or upon the
occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event or an MREL Disqualification Event, subject to certain
conditions.

In the event that the Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Notes due
to any withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes or duties of whatever
nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of Poland or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or
therein having power to tax (a "Tax Jurisdiction"), the Issuer may, at its option, redeem all outstanding
Notes in whole, but not in part, in accordance with the Conditions. Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-
Preferred Notes, Senior Subordinated Notes or Tier 2 Subordinated Notes (as applicable) may also
redeemed for taxation reasons if the Issuer would not be entitled to claim a deduction in computing
taxation liabilities in any Tax Jurisdiction in respect of any payment of interest to be made on the Notes
on the next payment date due under the Notes or the value of such deduction to the Issuer would be
materially reduced. In each case, the Issuer may only redeem such Notes (i) if such additional payment or
inability to claim a tax deduction (as applicable) occurs or the applicable tax treatment of the Notes is
materially affected as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of any Tax
Jurisdiction, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which
change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the
first Tranche of the Notes; and (ii) in the case of Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes or
Senior Subordinated Notes only if so permitted by the Applicable Banking Regulations (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, Applicable MREL Regulations) then in force and subject to the prior consent of the
Competent Authority if and as applicable (if such permission is required), as further described in
Condition 7.2 (Redemption for tax reasons).

Furthermore, if a Capital Disqualification Event occurs as a result of a change (or any pending change
which the Competent Authority considers sufficiently certain) in Polish law or law of any other relevant
jurisdiction, Applicable Banking Regulations or any change in the official application or interpretation
thereof becoming effective on or after the Issue Date, the Issuer may redeem all, and not some only, of
any Series of the Tier 2 Subordinated Notes subject to such redemption being permitted by the Applicable
Banking Regulations then in force and subject to the prior consent of the Competent Authority if and as
applicable (if such permission is required), as further described in Condition 7.3 (Early Redemption due
to Capital Disqualification Event).

If an MREL Disqualification Event occurs and is continuing as a result of a change in Applicable
Banking Regulations or any change in the official application or interpretation thereof becoming effective
on or after the Issue Date, Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes or Senior Subordinated
Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, subject to such redemption
being permitted by the Applicable Banking Regulations (including, for the avoidance of doubt,
Applicable MREL Regulations) then in force, and subject to the prior consent of the Competent Authority
if and as applicable (if such permission is required), as further described in Condition 7.4 (Early
Redemption due to MREL Disqualification Event).

In respect of Tier 2 Subordinated Notes, the regulatory conditions include the requirement under CRD
that, if such Notes are to be redeemed during the first five years after the issuance of the relevant Series of
such Notes, the Issuer must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that the event
triggering such redemption was not reasonably foreseeable at the time of the issue of the Notes and, in the
case of an early redemption relating to the tax treatment of the Notes, that the change in tax treatment is
material and, in the case of an early redemption relating to a Capital Disqualification Event, that such
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change is sufficiently certain. These foreseeability and materiality conditions to redemption contained in
CRD only apply to a redemption of Tier 2 Subordinated Notes occurring in the first five years after the
issue date of the relevant Series of such Notes and, therefore, an issuer of regulatory capital securities,
such as the Tier 2 Subordinated Notes, could opt to redeem such Notes for tax or regulatory reasons after
such fifth anniversary, including based upon an event that occurred within the first five years of issue.
There can therefore be no assurances that Tier 2 Subordinated Notes will not be called for tax or
regulatory reasons prior to any specified optional call date.

Where the Issuer has the right to redeem Notes, it may be more likely to do so when its cost of borrowing
is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to
reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being
redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider
reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

Under certain circumstances, the Issuer's ability to redeem or repurchase the Notes may be limited.

The CRD or BRRD, as applicable, prescribes certain conditions for the granting of permission by the
Competent Authority to a request by the Issuer to redeem or repurchase the Notes prior to their stated
maturity date. Those conditions include the following: (i) before such redemption the Notes shall be
replaced with own funds or eligible liabilities of equal or higher quality; (ii) the Issuer shall demonstrate
to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that following such redemption own funds or eligible
liabilities of the Issuer exceed the requirements specified in the CRD and/or BRRD by at least the margin
the Competent Authority considers necessary; or (iii) the Issuer shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of the
Competent Authority that the partial or full replacement of the Notes constituting the eligible liabilities
with instruments classified as own funds is necessary to ensure compliance with capital requirements
applicable to the Issuer. The Issuer may redeem or repurchase the Notes prior to their stated maturity date
only if such redemption or repurchase is in accordance with the Applicable Banking Regulations and it
has been granted the approval of or permission from the Competent Authority and any other requirements
of the Applicable Banking Regulations applicable to such redemptions or repurchases at the time have
been complied with by the Issuer. The rules under CRD and/or BRRD may be modified from time to time
after the Issue Date of the Notes.

Some Notes may be subordinated to most of the Issuer's liabilities.

If Notes are subordinated or senior non-preferred obligations of the Issuer, and the Issuer is declared
insolvent and/or a winding up is initiated, claims in respect of such Notes will rank as described in the
Conditions and the Issuer will be required to pay certain of its other creditors in full before it can make
any payments on such Notes. If this occurs, the Issuer may not have enough assets remaining after these
payments to pay amounts due under its subordinated or senior non-preferred Notes. Investors in such
Notes could therefore lose some or all of their investment should the Issuer become insolvent or should
the Notes become subject to the exercise of bail in and loss-absorption powers by the Relevant Resolution
Authority.

The terms of the Notes contain a no set-off clause.

The Conditions provide that there is no set-off, netting, compensation, retention or counterclaim arising
directly or indirectly under or in connection with any Note against any right, claim, or liability the Issuer
has or may have or acquire against any Noteholder, directly or indirectly, howsoever arising. As a result
Noteholders would not at any time be entitled to set off the Issuer's obligations under the Notes against
obligations owed by them to the Issuer.

Notes may be subject to substitution and modification without Noteholder consent.

To the extent that Condition 11 (Substitution and Variation) is specified in the relevant Final Terms as
being applicable to the Notes provisions relating to the substitution or variation of the Notes, in certain
circumstances, such as if a Capital Disqualification Event, an MREL Disqualification Event, or a
circumstance giving rise to the right of the Issuer to redeem the Notes for taxation reasons under
Condition 7.2 (Redemption for tax reasons) occurs and is continuing or to ensure the enforceability or
effectiveness of Condition 20 (Acknowledgment of Bail-in and Loss Absorption Powers), the Issuer may
substitute all (but not some only) of the Notes or modify the terms of all (but not some only) of the Notes,
without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, to ensure that such substituted or
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varied Notes continue to qualify as Tier 2 Subordinated Notes or towards the Issuer's MREL
Requirements, as applicable.

While the Issuer cannot make changes to the terms of the Notes that, in its reasonable opinion, are
materially less favourable to a Noteholder of such Note, there can be no assurances as to whether any of
these changes will negatively affect any particular Noteholder. In addition, the tax and stamp duty
consequences of holding such varied Notes could be different for some categories of Noteholders from
the tax and stamp duty consequences for them of holding the Notes prior to such substitution or variation.

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the
consent of all investors.

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters
affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders
including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in
a manner contrary to the majority.

The conditions of the Notes also provide that the Issuer may, with the consent of the Agent, but, without
the consent of Noteholders: (i) amend the Conditions of the Notes to correct a manifest error, cure any
ambiguity or cure, correct or supplement any defective provision contained therein, or (ii) amend the
Conditions of the Notes in any manner which is not materially prejudicial to the interests of holders of
such Notes, or (iii) substitute for itself another company as principal debtor under any Notes in place of
the Issuer, as more fully described in Condition 16 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and
Substitution).

In addition, certain changes may be made to the interest calculation provisions of the Notes in the
circumstances and as otherwise set out in such Condition, without the requirement for consent of the
Noteholders.

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in law.

The conditions of the Notes are based on applicable law in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus.
No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law,
Polish law or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus, and any such change could
materially adversely impact the value of any Notes affected by it.

The Issuer's gross-up obligation under the Notes (other than Ordinary Senior Notes) is limited.

The Issuer's obligation to pay additional amounts in respect of any withholding or deduction in respect of
taxes under the terms of each Series of Senior MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes or Senior
Subordinated Notes and Tier 2 Subordinated Notes applies only to payments of interest due and paid
under such Notes and not to payments of principal (which term, for these purposes, includes any
premium, final redemption amount, early redemption amount, optional redemption amount and any other
amount (other than interest) which may from time to time be payable in respect of such Notes). As such,
the Issuer would not be required to pay any additional amounts under the terms of any Series of Senior
MREL Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes or Senior Subordinated Notes and Tier 2 Subordinated Notes
to the extent any withholding or deduction applied to payments of principal. Accordingly, if any such
withholding or deduction were to apply to any payments of principal under any Series of such Notes,
holders of such Notes would, upon repayment or redemption of such Notes, be entitled to receive only the
net amount of such redemption or repayment proceeds after deduction of the amount required to be
withheld. Therefore, holders may receive less than the full amount due under such Notes, and the market
value of such Notes may be adversely affected as a result.

Risks related to the market generally
Risks related to suspension, interruption or termination of trading in the Notes.

The listing of the Notes may, depending on the rules applicable to the relevant stock exchange, be
suspended or interrupted by the respective stock exchange or a competent regulatory authority for a
number of reasons, including a violation of price limits, a breach of statutory provisions, the occurrence
of operational problems involving the stock exchange, or generally if deemed required in order to secure a
functioning market or to safeguard the interests of investors. Furthermore, trading in the Notes may be
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terminated either upon the decision of the stock exchange or a regulatory authority or upon application by
the Issuer.

Because the global Notes are held by or on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (as
defined above), investors will have to rely on their procedures for transfer, payment and
communication with the Issuer.

Notes issued under the Programme may be represented by one or more global Notes. Such global Notes
will be deposited with a common depositary or common safekeeper (as the case may be) for Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Except in the circumstances described in the relevant global Note,
investors will not be entitled to receive definitive Notes. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will
maintain records of the beneficial interests in the global Notes.

While the Notes are represented by one or more global Notes, investors will be able to trade their
beneficial interests only through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. While the Notes are
represented by one or more global Notes, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under the
Notes by making payments to the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for
distribution to their account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in a global Note must rely on the
procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to receive payments under the relevant Notes. The
Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of,
beneficial interests in the global Notes.

Noteholders of beneficial interests in the global Notes will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the
relevant Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to appoint appropriate proxies.

Clearing system risk of discontinuance.

Secondary market sales of book-entry interests in the global Notes will be conducted in accordance with
the normal rules and operating procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg are under no obligation to perform or to continue to perform such procedures,
and such procedures may be discontinued at any time.

Secondary market sales of interests in the global Notes may be conducted in accordance with the normal
rules and operating procedures of the domestic clearing system, or interests in the global Notes may be
transferred to a direct or indirect participant of another clearing system in accordance with the standard
arrangements for such cross-market transfers. None of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other
Clearing System is under any obligation to perform or to continue to perform such procedures, and such
procedures may be discontinued at any time.

Any such discontinuance could have a material adverse effect on an investor's holding of Notes or his or
her ability to resell the Notes in the secondary market.

The Notes may be delisted, which may materially affect an investor's ability to resell.

Any Notes that are listed on any listing authority, stock exchange or quotation system may be delisted. If
any Notes are delisted, the Issuer is obliged to endeavour promptly to obtain an alternative listing.
Although no assurance is made as to the liquidity of the Notes as a result of listing on any listing
authority, stock exchange or quotation system, delisting the Notes may have a material adverse effect on a
Noteholder's ability to resell the Notes in the secondary market.

Investors who purchase Notes in denominations that are not an integral multiple of the Specified
Denomination may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued.

In relation to any issue of Notes in bearer form which have denominations consisting of a minimum
Specified Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is
possible that such Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination
that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case, a holder who, as
a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified
Denomination in his or her account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive
a definitive Note in bearer form in respect of such holding (should such Notes be printed) and would need
to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.
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If definitive Notes in bearer form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a
denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and
difficult to trade.

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this
would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell his or her Notes.

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does
develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at
prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed
secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate,
currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been
structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes
generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt
securities.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, he or she will
be exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of his or her holding. In
addition, the imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not
receiving payments on those Notes.

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain
risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a
currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include
the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the
Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction
over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of
the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (i) the Investor's Currency-
equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor's Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the
Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that
could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to make payments in respect
of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or
principal.

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an
investment in those Notes.

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Issuer or the Notes. The
ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors
discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the rating
agency at any time. In the event a rating assigned to the Notes and/or the Issuer is lowered for any reason,
the market value of the Notes may be adversely affected, but no person or entity is obliged to provide any
additional support or credit enhancement with respect to the Notes.

In general, regulated investors established in the EU are restricted under the EU CRA Regulation from
using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency
established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been
withdrawn or suspended), subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances whilst the
registration application is pending. Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings
issued by non-EEA credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EEA-
registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating agency is certified in accordance with the
EU CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not been
withdrawn or suspended). The list of registered and certified rating agencies published by the ESMA on
its website in accordance with the EU CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the
relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures
being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list.
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Investors regulated in the UK are subject to similar restrictions under the UK CRA Regulation. As such,
UK regulated investors are required to use for UK regulatory purposes ratings issued by a credit rating
agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation. In the case of ratings issued
by third country non-UK credit rating agencies, third country credit ratings can either be: (a) endorsed by
a UK registered credit rating agency; or (b) issued by a third country credit rating agency that is certified
in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation. Note this is subject, in each case, to (a) the relevant UK
registration, certification or endorsement, as the case may be, not having been withdrawn or suspended,
and (b) transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances.

If the status of any rating agency rating the Notes changes for the purposes of the EU CRA Regulation or
the UK CRA Regulation, relevant regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for
regulatory purposes in the EEA or the UK, as applicable, and the Notes may have a different regulatory
treatment, which may impact the value of the Notes and their liquidity in the secondary market. Certain
information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings will be disclosed in the applicable Final
Terms.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Base Prospectus includes "forward-looking statements". All statements other than statements of

historical fact included in this Base Prospectus, including, without limitation, those regarding the Issuer's

financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives of management for future operations, are

forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are identified by their use of terms and
"non nn "n -n non

phrases such as "anticipate", "believe", "could", "estimate", "expect", "intend", "may", "plan", "predict",
"project”, "will" and similar terms and phrases, including references to assumptions.

Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors
which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results to be materially
different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These factors include, but
are not limited to, the following:

. economic and financial market conditions, in particular, the Polish and European economies;
. negative occurrences in the markets in which the Issuer's loan portfolio is concentrated;

. negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic;

. volatility in interest rates;

. a downgrade in the Republic of Poland's or the Issuer's credit ratings;

. perceived risk of sovereign default in the EU and associated risks relating to the euro;

. operational risk;

. credit and counterparty risk;

. liquidity risk and adverse capital and credit market conditions;

. the Issuer's inability to manage risks through derivatives;

. the occurrence of catastrophic events, terrorist attacks and similar events;

. significant adverse regulatory developments;

. an interruption, failure or breach of the Issuer's operational system including the Issuer's IT

systems and other systems on which it depends;
. the ineffectiveness of the Issuer's risk management policies and procedures; and
. failure to deliver by third parties to which the Issuer has outsourced certain functions.

The Issuer's risks are more specifically described under "Risk Factors". If one or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialise, or if underlying assumptions prove incorrect, the Issuer's actual results,
performance or achievements or industry results may be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-
looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Issuer's present and future business
strategies and the environment in which the Issuer will operate in the future. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this Base Prospectus (or any supplement hereto) or as of such
earlier date at which such statements are expressed to be given. The Issuer expressly disclaims any
obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement
contained herein (or in any supplement) to reflect any change in the Issuer's expectations with regard
thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The documents set out below that are incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus are, where
indicated, free translations into English from the original Polish language documents. To the extent that
there are any inconsistencies between the originals and the translations, the originals shall prevail. The
Issuer takes responsibility for such translations. The information set out in the table below shall be
deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus:

1.

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU (the "2021 Consolidated Financial
Statements"), audited by Deloitte Audyt spotka z ograniczona odpowiedzialnoscig sp. k.
included in the consolidated annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021,
which constitute a free translation from the Polish version into the English language and can be
viewed online at:

https://www.bankmillennium.pl/documents/10184/30701655/2 MILLENNIUMGROUP CFES 2
021 EN.pdf/dedefe5c-f8e6-af2e-6bae-39296a6571512t=1645777077143;

(a) consolidated income statement (page 6);

(b) consolidated statement of total comprehensive income (page 7);

(c) consolidated balance sheet (pages 8 to 9);

(d) consolidated statement of changes in equity (page 10);

(e) consolidated cash flow statement (pages 11 to 12); and

® notes to the consolidated financial statements (pages 13 to 178 inclusive).

the separate independent registered auditor's report on the audit of the 2021 Consolidated
Financial Statements (pages 1 to 9 inclusive), which constitutes a free translation from the Polish
version into the English language and can be viewed online at:

https://www.bankmillennium.pl/documents/10184/30701655/Raport Audytora EN.pdf/1047e¢49
4-0a37-8a0c-caaf-73ac8649¢d72?7t=1648808327480;

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU (the "2020 Consolidated Financial
Statements", audited by Deloitte Audyt spolka z ograniczona odpowiedzialno$cia sp. k.
included in the consolidated annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020,
which constitute a free translation from the Polish version into the English language and can be
viewed online at:

https://www.bankmillennium.pl/documents/10184/29578954/2_ GRUPAMILLENNIUM CEFS 2
020_EN.pdf/46c¢7a75a-800e-ac27-tb80-327e8c7285be?t=1645777187850;

(a) consolidated income statement (page 6);

(b) consolidated statement of total comprehensive income (page 7);

(c) consolidated balance sheet (pages 8 to 9);

(d) consolidated statement of changes in equity (page 10);

(e) consolidated cash flow statement (pages 11 to 12); and

® explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements (pages 14 to 180 inclusive).

the separate independent registered auditor's report on the audit of the 2020 Consolidated
Financial Statements (pages 1 to 9 inclusive), which constitutes a free translation from the Polish
version into the English language and can be viewed online at:
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https://www.bankmillennium.pl/documents/10184/29578954/6 Report on the Audit of the A
nnual Consolidated Financial Statements.pdf/62044fb5-c8d4-dba7-23c4-
8d95335b0825?t=1645777189703;

5. the Management Board Report on the Activity of Bank Millennium and the Capital Group of
Bank Millennium in 2021 (pages 1 to 119 inclusive), which constitutes a free translation from
the Polish version into the English language and can be viewed online at:

https://www.bankmillennium.pl/documents/10184/30701655/Consolidated-Annual-Report-of-
Bank-Millennium-Group-for-202 pdf.zip/4tbd3cd6-02¢9-e07c-3e41-
18f46feababf?t=1645467900517;

6. the Management Board Report on the Activity of Bank Millennium and the Capital Group of
Bank Millennium in 2020 (pages 1 to 119 inclusive), which constitutes a free translation from
the Polish version into the English language and can be viewed online at:

https://www.bankmillennium.pl/documents/10184/29578954/Consolidated-Annual-Report-of-
Bank-Millennium-Group-for-2020-pdf.zip/e19fad70-71b2-4204-a032-
26eel15ded9da?t=1614694096347

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either deemed not relevant for the
investor or covered in another part of the Base Prospectus. Any documents themselves incorporated by
reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus shall not form part of this
Base Prospectus.

If the information incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus itself incorporates any information or
other documents therein, either expressly or implicitly, such information or other documents will not form
part of this Base Prospectus.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus can be obtained from the
registered office of the Issuer and from the specified office of the Paying Agent for the time being in
London. The documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus will also be available from the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

For at least ten years from the date of this Base Prospectus, a copy of any document containing the
information incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus can be obtained from the Issuer's website at
https://www.bankmillennium.pl/en/about-the-bank/investor-relations. For the avoidance of doubt, unless
specifically incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus, information contained on the Issuer's
website does not form part of this Base Prospectus.
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SUPPLEMENTS TO THIS BASE PROSPECTUS

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy
relating to information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of
any Notes and which arises during the validity period specified below, prepare a supplement to this Base
Prospectus or publish a new Base Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes.

If the terms of the Programme are modified or amended in a manner that would make this Base
Prospectus, as supplemented, inaccurate or misleading, a new Base Prospectus or supplement will be
prepared.

If, at any time following the publication of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer shall be required to prepare a
supplement to this Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation, the Issuer shall
prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this Base Prospectus as required by Article 23
of the Prospectus Regulation. Statements contained in any such supplement (or contained in any
document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by
implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a
document which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so modified shall
not, except as so modified, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

The obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus in the event of significant new factors, material
mistakes or material inaccuracies will not apply when this Base Prospectus is no longer valid. For this
purpose, "valid" means valid for making admissions to trading on a regulated market by or with the
consent of the Issuer and the obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus is only required within its
period of validity between the time when this Base Prospectus is approved and the time when trading on a
regulated market begins, whichever occurs later.
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FORM OF THE NOTES

Each Tranche of Notes will be in bearer form and initially be issued in the form of a temporary global
note (a "Temporary Global Note") or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a permanent global
note (a "Permanent Global Note" and, together with a Temporary Global Note, each a "Global Note")
which, in either case, will:

(a) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note ("NGN") form, as stated in the
applicable Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a
common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg;
and

(b) if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN Form, be delivered on or prior to the
original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg.

Where the Global Notes issued in respect of any Tranche are in NGN form, the applicable Final Terms
will also indicate whether such Global Notes are intended to be held in a manner which would allow
Eurosystem eligibility. Any indication that the Global Notes are to be so held does not necessarily mean
that the Notes of the relevant Tranche will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary
policy and intra-day credit operations by Eurosystem either upon issue or at any times during their life as
such recognition depends upon satisfaction of Eurosystem eligibility criteria. The Common Safekeeper
for NGNs will either be Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or another entity approved by Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Whilst any Note is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any) and
any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will
be made (against presentation of the Temporary Global Note if the Temporary Global Note is not
intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the
effect that the beneficial owners of interests in the Temporary Global Note are not U.S. persons or
persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has
been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, and Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received) to
the Agent.

On and after the date (the "Exchange Date") which is 40 days after a Temporary Global Note is issued,
interests in such Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as
described therein either for (i) interests in a Permanent Global Note of the same Series or (ii) for
definitive Notes of the same Series with, where applicable, interest coupons and talons attached (as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of definitive Notes, to such notice period
as is specified in the applicable Final Terms), in each case against certification of beneficial ownership as
described above unless such certification has already been given. The holder of a Temporary Global Note
will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other amount due on or after the
Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, exchange of the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a
Permanent Global Note or for definitive Notes is improperly withheld or refused.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Global Note will be made
through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (against presentation or surrender (as the case may
be) of the Permanent Global Note if the Permanent Global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN
form) without any requirement for certification.

The applicable Final Terms will specify that a Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable (free of
charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Notes with, where applicable, interest coupons and talons
attached upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these purposes, "Exchange Event" means that
(i) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 10 (Events of Defaulf)) has occurred and is continuing, or
(ii) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have been closed for
business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or
have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no successor
clearing system is available. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 15 (Notices) if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange
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Event, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest
in such Permanent Global Note) may give notice to the Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange
shall occur not later than 45 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Agent.

The following legend will appear on all Notes (other than Temporary Global Notes) and interest coupons
relating to such Notes where TEFRA D is specified in the applicable Final Terms:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO
LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE
LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE
CODE."

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to
deduct any loss on Notes or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment in respect
of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of such Notes or
interest coupons.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and
procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined herein), the Agent shall arrange that, where a further
Tranche of Notes is issued which is intended to form a single Series with an existing Tranche of Notes at
a point after the Issue Date of the further Tranche, the Notes of such further Tranche shall be assigned a
common code and ISIN which are different from the common code and ISIN assigned to Notes of any
other Tranche of the same Series until such time as the Tranches are consolidated and form a single
Series, which shall not be prior to the expiry of the distribution compliance period (as defined in
Regulation S under the Securities Act, "Regulation S") applicable to the Notes of such Tranche.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so
permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

A Note may be accelerated by the holder thereof in certain circumstances described in Condition 10
(Events of Defaulf). In such circumstances, where any Note is still represented by a Global Note and the
Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and repayable in accordance with the Conditions and
payment in full of the amount due has not been made in accordance with the provisions of the Global
Note, then the Global Note will become void at 8.00 p.m. (London time) on the day immediately
following such day. At the same time, holders of interests in such Global Note credited to their accounts
with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, will become entitled to proceed
directly against the Issuer on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg on and subject to the terms of a deed of covenant (the "Deed of Covenant") dated 6 April
2022 and executed by the Issuer.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS

Form of Final Terms for an issue by Bank Millennium S.A. under the €3,000,000,000 Euro Medium
Term Note Programme.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available
to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a "retail investor"
means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of
Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended ("MiFID II")/;[ or] (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive
2016/97/EU, (as amended , the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not
qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II[; or (iii) not a qualified
investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation]. Consequently no key information document required
by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "EU PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the
Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be
unlawful under the EU PRIIPs Regulation.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to, be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available
to any retail investor in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these purposes, a "retail investor" means a
person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU)
No 2017/565 as it forms part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "EUWA"); [or] (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the "FSMA") and any rules or regulations made
under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a
professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part
of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA [; or (iii) not a qualified investor as
defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of the domestic law of the United
Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA]. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation
(EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA
(the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to
retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise
making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

[Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification: In connection with Sections 309B of
the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (2020 Revised Edition) of Singapore, as modified or amended from
time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of
Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined the classification of the Notes as
["prescribed capital markets products"] (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded
Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products
and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products)]/[ ].]

[MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ELIGIBLE
COUNTERPARTIES ONLY TARGET MARKET - Solely for the purposes of [the/each]
manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to
the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients
only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended (as amended, "MiFID II")/MiFID II]; and
(i1) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are
appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor")
should take into consideration the manufacturer|'s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor
subject to MiFID 1I is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the
Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining
appropriate distribution channels.]

[UK MIFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ELIGIBLE
COUNTERPARTIES ONLY TARGET MARKET - Solely for the purposes of [the/each]
manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to
the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the
FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("COBS"), and professional clients, as defined in
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Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the
[European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018/EUWA] ("UK MiFIR"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of
the [Notes] to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently
offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the
manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook
Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance
Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either
adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels.].]

FINAL TERMS
Bank Millennium S.A.
Legal entity identifier (LEI): 2594000FDZ9KPZEOSK78

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
under the €3,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions
(the "Conditions") set forth in the base prospectus of the Issuer dated 6 April 2022 [, as supplemented by
the supplement(s) to it dated [@]] (the "Base Prospectus") issued in relation to the €3,000,000,000 Euro
Medium Term Note Programme of Bank Millennium S.A. which [together] constitute[s] a base
prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation. ]

The expression "Prospectus Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended).

This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of
Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus
and any supplements thereto in order to obtain all the relevant information.

Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes described herein is only available on the basis of
a combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus.

The  Base  Prospectus is  available  for  viewing at the  Issuer's  website
https://www.bankmillennium.pl/en/about-the-bank/investor-relations, and at the offices of the Paying
Agents specified in the Base Prospectus. Copies may, upon oral or written request, also be obtained from
the Paying Agents.

These Final Terms do not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, an offer or solicitation by
anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to whom it
is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation; and no action is being taken to permit an offering of the
Notes or the distribution of these Final Terms in any jurisdiction where such action is required.

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is specified for individual paragraphs or sub-
paragraphs, save in respect of the items in Part B, which may be deleted in accordance with the relevant
footnotes. Italics denote guidance for completing the Final Terms.]

[When completing any final terms, consideration should be given as to whether such terms or information
constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base
Prospectus under Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.]

[When adding any other final terms or information, consideration should be given as to whether such
terms or information constitute category 'B' information as indicated in relevant Annex to the Prospectus
Regulation and consequently trigger the need for an individual drawdown prospectus.]

[Date]
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Series Number:

(b) Tranche Number:

(©) Date on which the Notes will be
consolidated and form a single
Series:
2. Specified Currency or Currencies:

3. Aggregate Nominal Amount:
(a) Series:

(b) Tranche:

4. Issue Price:
5. (a) Specified Denominations:
(b) Calculation Amount:
6. (a) Issue Date:
(b) Interest Commencement Date:

7. Maturity Date:

8. Interest Basis:

[e]
[e]

The Notes will be consolidated and form a single
Series with [provide issue amount/ISIN/maturity
date/issue date of earlier Tranches] on [the Issue
Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for
interests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred
to in paragraph 21 below, which is expected to
occur on or about [date]][Not Applicable]

[e]

[e]
[e]

[®] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount
[plus accrued interest from [insert date] (if
applicable)]

[e]
[e]

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the
Specified Denomination. If more than one Specified
Denomination, insert the highest common factor.
Note: There must be a common factor in the case of
two or more Specified Denominations.)

[e]
[[®]/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be
relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero
Coupon Notes.)

[Fixed rate — specify date/Floating rate — Interest
Payment Date falling in or nearest to [specify
month]]

(Tier 2 Subordinated Notes will have a maturity of
not less than five years or as otherwise permitted in
accordance with Applicable Banking Regulations
in force at the relevant time.)

[[®] per cent. Fixed Rate]

[[®] month [EURIBOR/WIBOR/SONIA/SOFR]
+/- [®] per cent. Floating Rate]
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9. Redemption Basis:

10.  Change of Interest Basis:

11.  Put/Call Options:

12.  Status of the Notes:

(a) Senior:
° Status:
° Senior MREL Notes:
° Events of Default:

(b) Subordinated:

° Status:

[Zero Coupon]
(see paragraph [13]/[14]/[15]/[16] below)

Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early
redemption, the Notes will be redeemed at par on
the Maturity Date

[For the period from (and including) the Interest
Commencement Date, up to (but excluding) [date]
paragraph [13]]/[14] applies and for the period
from (and including) [date] to (but excluding) the
Maturity Date, paragraph [13]/[14] applies][Not
Applicable]

Issuer Call pursuant to Condition 7.6 (Redemption
at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)) is
[Applicable/Not Applicable] [See paragraph 2
below]

Investor Put pursuant to Condition 7.7 (Redemption
at the option of the Noteholders (Investor Put)) is
[Applicable/Not Applicable] [See paragraph 3
below]

[(further particulars specified below)]

[Senior Notes—Ordinary Senior Notes/ /Senior
Notes—Senior Non-Preferred Notes/Subordinated
Notes—Senior Subordinated Notes/Subordinated
Notes—Tier 2 Subordinated Notes]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

[Ordinary Senior Notes/Senior Non-Preferred
Notes]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Condition 10.1 (Events of Default relating to
Ordinary Senior Notes) applies] / [Condition 10.3
(Events of Default relating to Senior MREL Notes,
Senior  Non-Preferred ~ Notes  or  Senior
Subordinated Notes and Tier 2 Subordinated
Notes) applies]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

[Senior Subordinated Notes/Tier 2 Subordinated
Notes]
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

13.

14.

Fixed Rate Note Provisions:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)
®

Rate(s) of Interest:

Interest Payment Date(s):

Fixed Coupon Amount(s):

(Applicable to Notes in definitive
Sform)

Broken Amount(s):

(Applicable to Notes in definitive
Sform)

Day Count Fraction:

Determination Date(s):

Floating Rate Note Provisions:

(a)

(b)

Specified Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day Convention:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

[[®] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each
Interest Payment Date]

[[®] in each year up to and including the Maturity
Date]

[] per Calculation Amount

[®] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest
Payment Date falling [in/on] [e] [Not Applicable]

[30/360] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]
[[®] in each year] [Not Applicable]

(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is
Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert
regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date
or maturity date in the case of a long or short, first
or last, coupon)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

[®] [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention set out in (b) below/, not
subject to any adjustment, as the Business Day
Convention in (b) below is specified to be Not
Applicable]

("Specified Period" and '"Specified Interest
Payment Dates" are alternatives. A "Specified
Period", rather than "Specified Interest Payment
Dates", will only be relevant if the Business Day
Convention is the Floating Rate Convention.
Otherwise, insert "Not Applicable")

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day
Convention/Not Applicable]
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(©)
(d)

(e)

®

Additional Business Centre(s):

Manner in which the Rate of
Interest and Interest Amount is to
be determined:

Party responsible for calculating
the Rate of Interest and Interest
Amount (if not the Agent):

Screen Rate Determination:

° Reference Rate:

. Observation Method:

o Lag Period:

. Observation Shift Period:

° D:

. Index Determination:

. SONIA Compounded
Index:

. SOFR Compounded Index:

° Relevant Decimal Place:

. Relevant Number:

° Interest Determination
Date(s):

[®]/[Not Applicable]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]

[®]/[Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining items of this
subparagraph)

[o] month [EURIBORY]/
[WIBOR]/[SONIA]/[SOFR]/[€STR]/[SONIA
Compounded Index]/[SOFR Compounded Index]

[Lag / Observation Shift]

[5/[®] TARGET Business Days/U.S. Government
Securities  Business Days/London  Banking
Days/Not Applicable]

[5/[®] TARGET Business Days/U.S. Government
Securities Business Days/London Banking Days
/Not Applicable]

(NB: A minimum of 5 should be specified for the

Lag Period or Observation Shift Period, unless
otherwise agreed with the Calculation Agent)

[360/365] / [Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[ VIS/T] (unless otherwise specified in the Final
Terms, the Relevant Decimal Place shall be the
fifth decimal place in the case of the SONIA
Compounded Index and the seventh decimal place
in the case of the SOFR Compounded Index)

[ VI5] (unless otherwise specified in the Final
Terms, the Relevant Number shall be 5)

[e]

(Second day on which the TARGET2 System is
open prior to the start of each Interest Period if
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(g

. Relevant Screen Page:
ISDA Determination

. ISDA Definitions:

. Floating Rate Option:
. Designated Maturity:

. Reset Date:

. Compounding:

. Compounding Method:

EURIBOR)

[e]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters
EURIBORO0! ensure it is a page which shows a
composite rate or amend the fallback provisions

appropriately)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining items of this
subparagraph (g))
[2006/2021] ISDA Definitions

[e]
(If “2021 ISDA Definitions” is selected, ensure this
is a Floating Rate Option included in the Floating

Rate Matrix (as defined in the 2021 ISDA
Definitions))

[®]/[Not Applicable]

(A Designated Maturity period is not relevant
where the relevant Floating Rate Option is a risk-
free rate)

(@]

(In the case of a EURIBOR based option, the first
day of the interest period)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining items of this
subparagraph)

[Compounding with Lookback:

Lookback: [[ ] Applicable Business Days]/[As
specified in the Compounding/Averaging Matrix
(as defined in the 2021 ISDA Definitions)]]

[Compounding with Observation Period Shift:

Observation Period Shift: [[ ] Observation Period
Shift Business Days]/[As specified in the
Compounding/Averaging Matrix (as defined in the
2021 ISDA Definitions)]

Observation Period Shift Additional Business
Days: [ ]/[Not Applicable]]

[Compounding with Lockout:

Lockout: [[ ] Lockout Period Business Days]/[As
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. Averaging:
. Averaging Method:
. Index provisions:
o Index Method:
(h) Linear Interpolation:

6] Margin(s):

g) Minimum Rate of Interest:

specified in the Compounding/Averaging Matrix

(as defined in the 2021 ISDA Definitions)]]
[Lockout Period Business Days: [®]/[Applicable
Business Days]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining items of this
subparagraph)

[Averaging with Lookback

Lookback: [[®] Applicable Business Days]/[As
specified in the Compounding/Averaging Matrix
(as defined in the 2021 ISDA Definitions)]]

[Averaging with Observation Period Shift

Observation Period Shift: [[®] Observation Period
Shift Business Days]/[As specified in the
Compounding/Averaging Matrix (as defined in the
2021 ISDA Definitions)]

Observation Period Shift Additional Business
Days: [@]/[Not Applicable]]

[Averaging with Lockout

Lockout: [[®] Lockout Period Business Days]/[As
specified in the Compounding/Averaging Matrix
(as defined in the 2021 ISDA Definitions)]

Lockout Period Business Days: [®]/[Applicable
Business Days]

[Applicable / Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining items of this
subparagraph)

Compounded Index Method with Observation
Period Shift

Observation Period Shift: [[e] Observation Period
Shift Business Days]/[As specified in the
Compounding/Averaging Matrix (as defined in the
2021 ISDA Definitions)]

Observation Period Shift Additional Business
Days: [@]/[Not Applicable]]

[Not Applicable/Applicable — the Rate of Interest
for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall
be calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for
each short or long interest period)]

[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum

[®] per cent. per annum
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15.

16.

(k)
M

Maximum Rate of Interest:

Day Count Fraction:

Zero Coupon Note Provisions:

(a)
(b)
(©)

Accrual Yield:
Reference Price:

Day Count Fraction in relation to
Early Redemption Amounts:

Reset Note Provisions:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

(g

(h)

V)

Initial Rate of Interest:

First Margin:
Subsequent Margin:

Interest Payment Date(s):

Fixed Coupon Amount up to (but

excluding) the First Reset Date:

Broken Amount(s):

First Reset Date:

Second Reset Date:

Subsequent Reset Date(s):

Relevant Screen Page:

[®] per cent. per annum
Actual/Actual (ICMA) / Actual/Actual (ISDA) /
Actual/365 (Fixed) / Actual/365 (Sterling) /

Actual/360 / 30/360 / 360/360 / Bond Basis /
30E/360 / Eurobond Basis / 30E/360 (ISDA)

(See Condition 5 (Interest) for alternatives)
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

[®] per cent. per annum
[e]

[30/360]

[Actual/360] [Actual/365]

Applicable/Not Applicable

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub
paragraphs of this paragraph)

[®] per cent. per annum payable in arrear [on each
Interest Payment Date] up to (and including) [®]

[£][®] per cent. per annum
[[+][®] per cent. per annum]/[Not Applicable]

[e] [and [e®]] in each year up to and including the
Maturity Date [[in each case,] subject to adjustment
in accordance with paragraph 16(p)]

[®] per Calculation Amount / Not Applicable
[®] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest
Payment Date falling [in/on] [@] / Not Applicable

[®] [subject to adjustment in accordance with
paragraph 16(p)]

Not Applicable / [®] [subject to adjustment in
accordance with paragraph 16(p)]

Not Applicable / [e] [and [e]] [subject to
adjustment in accordance with paragraph 16(p)]

[e]
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Reset Reference Rate:

(k)

)] Mid-Swap Rate:

(m) Mid-Swap Maturity:

(n) Reference Banks:

(0) Reset Reference Rate Conversion:

(p) Original Reset Reference Rate
Basis:

) Day Count Fraction:

(r) Reset Determination Dates:

(s) Reset Determination Time:

) Business Day Convention:

(w) Relevant Financial Centre:

v) Determination Agent:

(w) Mid-Swap Floating Leg
Benchmark Rate:

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

1. Notice periods for Condition 6.2:

2. Issuer Call:

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):

Reference Bond Rate / Mid-Swap Rate

[Single  Mid-Swap
Rate]/[Not Applicable]

Rate]/[Mean = Mid-Swap

[e]
[e]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[®]/[Not Applicable]

Actual/Actual (ICMA) / Actual/Actual (ISDA) /
Actual/365 (Fixed) / Actual/365 (Sterling) /
Actual/360 / 30/360 / 360/360 / Bond Basis /
30E/360 / Eurobond Basis / 30E/360 (ISDA)

[®] in each year / The provisions in the Conditions
apply

[e]

Following Business Day Convention / Modified
Following Business Day Convention / Modified
Business Day Convention / Preceding Business
Day Convention / FRN Convention / Floating Rate

Convention / Eurodollar Convention / No
Adjustment

[e]

[e]

[EURIBOR]/ [WIBOR]/ [SONIAY/
[SOFR]/[€STR]/ SONIA Compounded

Index/SOFR Compounded Index

Minimum period: [30] days
Maximum period: [60] days
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

[®][Any day falling in the period commencing on
(and including) [®] and ending on ([and
including/but  excluding]) [the [First] Reset
Date]/[the Maturity Date]
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(b) Optional Redemption Amount:

(c) Notice periods:
3. Investor Put:
(a) Optional Redemption Date(s) or
Put Period(s):
(b) Optional Redemption Amount:
() Notice periods:

4. MREL Disqualification Event
. Optional Redemption Amount:

5. Final Redemption Amount:

6. Early Redemption Amount payable on
redemption for taxation reasons or on event
of default:

[e] per Calculation Amount

Minimum period: [15] days

Maximum period: [30] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is
advised to consider the practicalities of distribution
of information through intermediaries, for example,
clearing systems (which require a minimum of five
clearing system business days' notice for a call)
and custodians, as well as any other notice
requirements which may apply, for example, as
between the Issuer and the Agent)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

[e]

[] per Calculation Amount

Minimum period: [15] days

Maximum period: [30] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is
advised to consider the practicalities of distribution
of information through intermediaries, for example,
clearing systems (wWhich require a minimum of 15
clearing system business days' notice for a put) and
custodians, as well as any other notice
requirements which may apply, for example, as
between the Issuer and the Agent)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[[®] per Calculation Amount/Not Applicable]
[Par], [[®] per Calculation Amount]

[®] per Calculation Amount/Not Applicable]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

1. Form of Notes:

(a) Form:

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a
Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for
Definitive Notes upon an Exchange Event]
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(b) New Global Note:

2. Additional Financial Centre(s):

3. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to
Definitive Notes:

4. Waiver of Set-Off:

5. Substitution and Variation:

SIGNED on behalf of Bank Millennium S.A.:
By

Duly authorised

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for
Definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for
Definitive Notes upon an Exchange Event]

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in
the "Form of the Notes" section in the Base
Prospectus and the Notes themselves. N.B. The
exchange upon notice/at any time at the request of
the Issuer options should not be expressed to be
applicable if the Specified Denomination of the
Notes in sub-paragraph 5 includes language
substantially to the following effect: "[€100,000]
and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess thereof
up to and including [€199,000]." Furthermore,
such Specified Denomination construction is not
permitted in relation to any issue of Notes which is
to be represented on issue by a Temporary Global
Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes.)

[Yes][No]

[Not Applicable/[®]]
(Note that this paragraph relates to the date of
payment and not the end dates of Interest Periods

for the purpose of calculating the amount of
interest to which sub- paragraph 15(c) relates)

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon
payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange
into definitive form, more than 27 coupon
payments are still to be made]/[No.]
[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

By

Duly authorised
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PART B - OTHER INFORMATION

L. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO [Application [has been made/is expected to be
TRADING made] by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes
to be listed on the [Official List of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange]/[Warsaw Stock Exchange] and
admitted to trading on the regulated market of the
[Luxembourg Stock Exchange]/[Warsaw Stock
Exchange] with effect from [e].]/[Not applicable.]

2. RATINGS

[The Notes to be issued [have been]/[are expected to be] rated [®] by [insert the legal name of the
relevant credit rating agency entity(ies)]]

[Not Applicable]

Option 1 - CRA established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation and details of
whether rating is endorsed by a credit rating agency established and registered in the UK or certified
under the UK CRA Regulation

[®] is established in the EEA and registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as amended (the "EU
CRA Regulation"). [As of the date of these Final Terms, [®] appears on the list of registered credit rating
agencies on the ESMA website www.esma.europa.eu). [The rating [e] given to the Notes is endorsed by
[®], which is established in the UK and registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms part
of UK domestic law by virtue of the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018] (the "UK CRA
Regulation").]/ [[®] has been certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of the
domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018]
(the "UK CRA Regulation").]/ [[®] has not been certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as it
forms part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA / European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018] (the "UK CRA Regulation") and the rating it has given to the Notes is not
endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation.]

Option 2 — CRA established in the EEA, not registered under the CRA Regulation but has applied for
registration and details of whether rating is endorsed by a credit rating agency established and
registered in the UK or certified under the UK CRA Regulation

[®] is established in the EEA and has applied for registration under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as
amended (the "CRA Regulation"), although notification of the corresponding registration decision has
not yet been provided by the [relevant competent authority/European Securities and Markets Authority].
[As of the date of these Final Terms, [®] appears on the list of registered credit rating agencies on the
ESMA website www.esma.europa.eu]. [The rating [@] has given to the Notes is endorsed by [e], which is
established in the UK and registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of the
domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018]
(the "UK CRA Regulation").]/[[®] has been certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms
part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal)
Act 2018] (the "UK CRA Regulation").]/[[®#] has not been certified under Regulation (EU) No
1060/2009, as it forms part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the
[EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018] (the "UK CRA Regulation") and the rating it has
given to the Notes is not endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the
UK CRA Regulation.]

Option 3 — CRA established in the EEA, not registered under the EU CRA Regulation and not applied for
registration and details of whether rating is endorsed by a credit rating agency established and
registered in the UK or certified under the UK CRA Regulation

[®] is established in the EEA and is neither registered nor has it applied for registration under Regulation
(EU) No 1060/2009, as amended (the "EU CRA Regulation"). [As of the date of these Final Terms, [®]
appears on the list of registered credit rating agencies on the ESMA website www.esma.europa.eu.] [The
rating [®] has given to the Notes is endorsed by [e], which is established in the UK and registered under
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Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of
the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018] (the "UK CRA Regulation").]/[[®] has been
certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of the domestic law of the United
Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018] (the "UK CRA
Regulation").] [[®] has not been certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as it forms part of the
domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018]
(the "UK CRA Regulation") and the rating it has given to the Notes is not endorsed by a credit rating
agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation.]

Option 4 — CRA established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation and details of
whether rating is endorsed by a credit rating agency established and registered in the EEA or certified
under the EU CRA Regulation

[®] is established in the UK and registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of the
domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018]
(the "UK CRA Regulation"). As of the date of these Final Terms, [®] appears on the list of registered
credit rating agencies on the FCA website www.fca.org. uk/markets/credit-ratingagencies/registered-
certified-cras. [The rating [®] has given to the Notes to be issued under the Programme is endorsed by
[®], which is established in the EEA and registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as amended
(the "EU CRA Regulation").] [[®] has been certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as amended
(the "EU CRA Regulation").] [[®] has not been certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as
amended as it forms part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA/European
Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018] (the "UK CRA Regulation") and the rating it has given to the Notes is not
endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation. ]

Option 5 — CRA not established in the EEA or the UK but relevant rating is endorsed by a CRA which is
established and registered under the CRA Regulation (EU) AND/OR under the UK CRA Regulation

[®] is not established in the EEA or the UK but the rating it has given to the Notes to be issued under the
Programme is endorsed by [®], which is established in the EEA and registered under Regulation (EU) No
1060/2009, as amended (the "EU CRA Regulation")] [and] [[e], which is established in the UK and
registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of the domestic law of the United
Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018]].

Option 6 — CRA not established in the EEA or the UK and relevant rating is not endorsed under the CRA
Regulation (EU) or the UK CRA Regulation but CRA is certified under the CRA Regulation (EU)
AND/OR under the UK CRA Regulation

[®] is not established in the EEA or the UK but is certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as
amended [(the "EU CRA Regulation")] [and] [Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of the
domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA / European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018].

Option 7 — CRA neither established in the EEA or the UK nor certified under the EU CRA Regulation or
the UK CRA Regulation and relevant rating is not endorsed under the EU CRA Regulation or the UK
CRA Regulation

[®] is not established in the EEA or the UK and is not certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as
amended (the "EU CRA Regulation") or Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of the domestic
law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the [EUWA/European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018] (the "UK
CRA Regulation") and the rating it has given to the Notes is not endorsed by a credit rating agency
established in either the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or in the UK and registered
under the UK CRA Regulation.

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of the ratings if this has previously been published by
the rating provider.]

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealer], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in
the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Managers/Dealers] and their affiliates
have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking
transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of
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business./ [®]./Not Applicable.]]

4.

(1)
(i1)
(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)
(vii)

(viii)

REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND TOTAL EXPENSES

Reasons for the offer:

Estimated net proceeds:

Estimated total expenses related to the
admission to trading:

YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes/Reset Notes
only)

Indication of yield:

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
ISIN Code:

Common Code:

CFI:

FISN:

Any clearing system(s) other than
Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg and the relevant

identification number(s):
Delivery:

Names and addresses of additional
Paying Agent(s) (if any):

Relevant Benchmark(s):

The net proceeds from the issue of Notes will be
applied by the Issuer for [specify use of proceeds].

[e]
[e]

[Include breakdown of expenses.]

[e]/[Not Applicable].

[e]
[e]

[®], as updated, as set out on the website of the

Association of National Numbering Agencies
(ANNA) [or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that

assigned the ISIN]/Not Applicable/other].

[e], as updated, as set out on the website of the

Association of National Numbering Agencies
(ANNA) [or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that

assigned the ISIN]/Not Applicable/other].

(If the CFI and/or FISN is not required, requested or
available, it/they should be specified to be "Not
Applicable").

[Not Applicable/give name(s),
number(s)]

address(es) and

Delivery [against/free of] payment
[e]

[[specify benchmark] is provided by [administrator
legal namel]][repeat as necessary]. As at the date
hereof, [[administrator legal name][appears]/[does
not appear]][repeat as necessary] in the register of
administrators and benchmarks established and
maintained by ESMA pursuant to Article 36 (Register
of administrators and benchmarks) of the EU
Benchmarks Regulation]/[As far as the Issuer is
aware, as at the date hereof, [specify benchmark] does
not fall within the scope of the EU Benchmark
Regulation]/ [As far as the Issuer is aware, the
transitional provisions in Article 51 of Regulation
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(ix)

7.
(1)
(i)

(ii1)

(iv)

V)

Intended to be held in a manner which
would allow Eurosystem eligibility:

DISTRIBUTION

Method of distribution:

If syndicated:

(). Names and addresses of
Managers and underwriting
commitments:

(i1). Date of subscription
agreement:

(iii). Stabilisation Manager(s) (if
any):

If non-syndicated, name and address of
relevant Dealer:

U.S. Selling Restrictions:

Italian Selling Restriction:

(EU) 2016/1011, as amended apply, such that [name
of administrator] is not currently required to obtain
authorisation/registration (or, if located outside the
European Union, recognition, endorsement or
equivalence)]/ [Not Applicable]

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means
that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited
with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and
does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by
the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all
times during their life. Such recognition will depend
upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem
eligibility criteria have been met.]

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the
date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem
eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that
the Notes are capable of meeting them, the Notes may
then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common
safekeeper. Note that this does not necessarily mean
that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible
collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-
day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time
during their life. Such recognition will depend upon
the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility
criteria have been met. ]

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

[Not Applicable/give names, addresses and
underwriting commitments|

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to
underwrite the issue on a firm-commitment basis and
names and addresses of the entities agreeing to place
the issue without a firm commitment or on a "best
efforts" basis if such entities are not the same as the
Managers.)

[e]

[e]

[Not Applicable/[e]]

[Not Applicable/[®]]

[Reg. S Compliance Category 2; [TEFRA D/TEFRA

C/TEFRA not applicable]]

[No sales into Italy] [Sales into Italy subject to certain
requirements] [Not Applicable]
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(vi) French Selling Restriction: [No sales into France] [Sales into France subject to
certain requirements] [Not Applicable]

8. [THIRD PARTY INFORMATION]

[[®] has been extracted from [e®]. The Bank confirms that such information has been accurately
reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by [®], no
facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. ]
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which (subject to completion by the applicable
Final Terms) will be endorsed upon each Global Note (as defined below) and each definitive Note, in the
latter case only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed
by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, such
definitive Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The
applicable Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each
Global Note and definitive Note. Reference should be made to "applicable Final Terms" for a description
of the content of Final Terms which will specify which of such terms are to apply in relation to the
relevant Notes.

This Note is one of a Series (as defined below) of Notes issued by Bank Millennium S.A. (the "Issuer")
pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined below).

References herein to the "Notes" shall be references to the Notes of this Series and shall mean:

(a) in relation to any Notes represented by a global note (a "Global Nete"), units of each Specified
Denomination (as defined below) in the Specified Currency (as defined below);

(b) any Global Note; and
(c) any definitive Notes issued in exchange for a Global Note.

The Notes and the Coupons (as defined below) have the benefit of an Agency Agreement (such Agency
Agreement as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Agency
Agreement") dated 6 April 2022 and made between the Issuer and Citibank N.A., London Branch as
issuing and principal paying agent (the "Agent", which expression shall include any successor agent) and
the other paying agents named therein (together with the Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression
shall include any additional or successor paying agents). The Agent and the Paying Agents are together
referred to as the "Agents".

The final terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in the Final Terms attached to
or endorsed on this Note which complete these Terms and Conditions (the "Conditions" and references to
a numbered "Condition" shall be construed accordingly).

Interest - bearing definitive Notes have interest coupons ("Coupons") and, in the case of Notes which,
when issued in definitive form, have more than 27 interest payments remaining, talons for further
Coupons ("Talons") attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the
context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Global Notes do not
have Coupons or Talons attached on issue.

The applicable Final Terms will state in particular whether this Note is an Ordinary Senior Note (the
"Ordinary Senior Note") or a Senior Non-Preferred Note (the "Senior Non-Preferred Note", together
with the Ordinary Senior Note, the "Senior Notes") or a Subordinated Note (the "Subordinated Note"),
which may be, in turn, a Senior Subordinated Note (the "Senior Subordinated Note") or a Tier 2
Subordinated Note (the "Tier 2 Subordinated Note"), each as more fully described in Condition 2
(Status of the Notes).

As used herein, "Tranche" means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing and
admission to trading) and "Series" means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or
Tranches of Notes which (a) are expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (b) have the
same terms and conditions which are the same in all respects save for the amount and date of the first
payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue.

Any reference to "Noteholders" or "holders" in relation to any Notes shall mean the holders of the Notes
and shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a Global Note, be construed as provided below. Any
reference herein to "Couponholders" shall mean the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context
otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.
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The Noteholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of the Deed of Covenant (such Deed of
Covenant as modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Deed of Covenant")
dated 6 April 2022 and made by the Issuer. The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by the common
depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, for Euroclear (as defined below) and Clearstream,
Luxembourg (as defined below) and by the Agent on behalf of the Noteholders and the Couponholders at
its specified office.

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are (i) available for inspection during normal
business hours at the specified office of each of the Agent or (ii) may be provided by email to a
Noteholder following their prior written request to any Paying Agents and provision of proof of holding
and identity (in a form satisfactory to the relevant Paying Agent). If the Notes are to be admitted to
trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the applicable Final Terms will be
published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). The Noteholders and the
Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the
Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the applicable Final Terms which are applicable to them.
The statements in the Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the
Agency Agreement.

Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final Terms, shall
have the same meanings where used in the Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless
otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Agency Agreement and the
applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms will prevail.

In the Conditions, "euro" means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the European
economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as
amended.

Any reference in these Conditions to any legislation (whether primary legislation or other subsidiary
legislation made pursuant to primary legislation) shall be construed as a reference to such legislation as
the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended, superseded or re-enacted. References
herein to "Terms and Conditions" or "Conditions" are to these Conditions, or a correspondingly numbered
provision hereof.

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE

The Notes are in bearer form and, in the case of definitive Notes, serially numbered, in the
currency (the "Specified Currency") and the denominations (the "Specified Denomination(s)")
specified in the applicable Final Terms. Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be
exchanged for Notes of another Specified Denomination.

This Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note or a
combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable
Final Terms.

This Note may be an Ordinary Senior Note, a Senior Non-Preferred Note, a Senior Subordinated
Note or a Tier 2 Subordinated Note.

Definitive Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes, in which
case references to Coupons and Couponholders in the Conditions are not applicable.

Subject as set out below, title to the Notes and Coupons will pass by delivery. The Issuer and
any Agent will (except as otherwise required by law) deem and treat the bearer of any Note or
Coupon as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of
ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes but,
in the case of any Global Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next succeeding

paragraph.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank
SA/NV ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"), each
person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in
the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal
amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or
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2.1

Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any
person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall
be treated by the Issuer and the Agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for
all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such nominal
amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note shall be treated
by the Issuer and any Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance
with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions "Noteholder" and
"holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the
rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case
may be.

References to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so
permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system
specified in Part B of the applicable Final Terms.

STATUS OF THE NOTES

The applicable Final Terms will indicate whether the Notes are Ordinary Senior Notes, Senior
Non-Preferred Notes, Senior Subordinated Notes or Tier 2 Subordinated Notes.

Status of the Ordinary Senior Notes

The payment obligations of the Issuer under Notes which specify their status as Ordinary Senior
Notes (including Senior MREL Notes) in the applicable Final Terms constitute direct,
unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 3 (Negative Pledge) unsecured
obligations of the Issuer and subject to any other ranking that may apply as a result of any
mandatory provisions of law, upon the insolvency of the Issuer as set out in the Polish Act dated
28 February 2003 Insolvency Law, as may be amended from time to time (the "Insolvency
Law")), such payment obligations rank:

(a) in respect of principal:

(1) junior to: (A) any liabilities of the Issuer falling into categories 1 and 2 of the
Issuer's liabilities in accordance with art. 440 section 2 of the Insolvency Law;
and (B) any present and future obligations of the Issuer which are senior to the
Ordinary Senior Notes in accordance with the Insolvency Law;

(i1) pari passu among themselves and with any other Senior Higher Priority
Liabilities; and

(ii1) senior to: (A) accrued but unpaid interest on Senior Higher Priority Liabilities
as of the commencement of any insolvency procedure; (B) any liabilities of the
Issuer falling into categories 4 to 10 (inclusive) of the Issuer's liabilities in
accordance with art. 440 section 2 of the Insolvency Law (including but not
limited to Senior Non-Preferred Liabilities); and (C) any other present and
future obligations of the Issuer which rank junior to the Ordinary Senior Notes
in accordance with the Insolvency Law;

(b) in respect of interest:

(1) junior to: (A) obligations in respect of principal on Senior Higher Priority
Liabilities; and (B) any liabilities of the Issuer falling into categories 1 to 3
(inclusive) of the Issuer's liabilities in accordance with art. 440 section 2 of the
Insolvency Law; and (C) any present and future obligations of the Issuer which
rank senior to the Ordinary Senior Notes in accordance with the Insolvency
Law;

(i1) pari passu among themselves and with any other interest on Senior Higher
Priority Liabilities; and
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2.2

2.3

(ii1) senior to: (A) any liabilities of the Issuer falling into categories 5 to 10
(inclusive) of the Issuer's liabilities in accordance with art. 440 section 2 of the
Insolvency Law (including but not limited to Senior Non-Preferred
Liabilities); and (B) any other present and future obligations of the Issuer
which rank junior to the Ordinary Senior Notes in accordance with the
Insolvency Law.

Status of the Senior Non-Preferred Notes

The payment obligations of the Issuer under Notes which specify their status as Senior Non-
Preferred Notes in the applicable Final Terms constitute direct, unconditional and unsecured
obligations of the Issuer and subject to any other ranking that may apply as a result of any
mandatory provision of law, upon the insolvency of the Issuer as set out in the Insolvency Law,
such payment obligations rank:

(@)

(b)
(©)

junior to: (A) any liabilities of the Issuer falling into categories 1 to 5 (inclusive) of the
Issuer's liabilities in accordance with art. 440 section 2 of the Insolvency Law; and (B)
any other present and future obligations of the Issuer which rank senior to the Senior
Non-Preferred Notes in accordance with the Insolvency Law;

pari passu among themselves and with any other Senior Non-Preferred Liabilities; and

senior to: (A) any liabilities of the Issuer falling into categories 7 to 10 (inclusive) of
the Issuer's liabilities in accordance with art. 440 section 2 of the Insolvency Law; and
(B) any other present and future obligations of the Issuer which rank junior to Senior
Non-Preferred Liabilities in accordance with the Insolvency Law.

Status of the Subordinated Notes

(a)

The payment obligations of the Issuer under Notes which specify their status as Senior
Subordinated Notes or Tier 2 Subordinated Notes in the applicable Final Terms on
account of principal constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated
obligations of the Issuer and subject to any other ranking that may apply as a result of
any mandatory provision of law, upon the insolvency of the Issuer as set out in the
Insolvency Law, such payment obligations rank:

(1) for so long as the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the relevant
Subordinated Notes constitute Senior Subordinated Liabilities of the Issuer:

(A) junior to (i) liabilities of the Issuer falling into categories 1 to 6
(inclusive) of the Issuer's liabilities in accordance with art. 440
section 2 of the Insolvency Law (including any Senior Higher Priority
Liabilities and Senior Non-Preferred Liabilities), and (ii) any other
obligations which by law rank senior to the Issuer's obligations under
the relevant Senior Subordinated Notes;

(B) pari passu among themselves and with (i) all other claims in respect
of Senior Subordinated Liabilities, and (ii) any other subordinated
obligations which by law, rank pari passu with the Issuer's
obligations under the relevant Senior Subordinated Notes; and

© senior to (i) any liabilities of the Issuer falling into categories 8 to 10
(inclusive) of the Issuer's liabilities in accordance with art. 440
section 2 of the Insolvency Law, and (ii) any other obligations of the
Issuer which, by law, rank junior to the obligations of the Issuer under
the relevant Senior Subordinated Notes; and

(i1) for so long as the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the relevant

Subordinated Notes constitute either in whole or in part Tier 2 Subordinated
Notes of the Issuer:
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2.4

2.5

2.6

(A) junior to (i) any liabilities of the Issuer falling into categories 1 to 7
(inclusive) of the Issuer's liabilities in accordance with art. 440
section 2 of the Insolvency Law, (ii) any other present and future
obligations of the Issuer which, in accordance with the Insolvency
Law, rank senior to the Tier 2 Subordinated Notes, and (iii) any other
obligations which, by law, rank senior to the Issuer's obligations
under the Tier 2 Subordinated Notes;

(B) pari passu among themselves and with any other subordinated
obligations which, by law and/or by their terms, to the extent
permitted by Polish law, rank pari passu with the Issuer's obligations
under the Tier 2 Subordinated Notes; and

© senior to (i) any liabilities of the Issuer falling into categories 9 and
10 of the Issuer's liabilities in accordance with art. 440 section 2 of
the Insolvency Law, (ii) any other present or future obligations of the
Issuer which, in accordance with the Insolvency Law, rank lower than
Tier 2 Subordinated Notes, and (iii)) any other subordinated
obligations of the Issuer which by law rank junior to the obligations
of the Issuer under the Tier 2 Subordinated Notes.

No Interest in Insolvency

No interest shall accrue in respect of the Notes from the date of the declaration of insolvency of
the Issuer.

MREL

(a) To the extent allowed by the Applicable Banking Regulations, the Senior MREL Notes,
the Senior Non-Preferred Notes, Senior Subordinated Notes and Tier 2 Subordinated
Notes may be issued by the Issuer to satisfy the minimum requirements for own funds
and eligible liabilities (the "MREL").

(b) The rights of holders of the Ordinary Senior Notes, Senior Non-Preferred Notes, Senior
Subordinated Notes and Tier 2 Subordinated Notes shall be subject to any present or
future Polish laws or regulations relating to the recovery and resolution of credit
institutions and investment firms in the Republic of Poland which are or will be
applicable to such Notes as a result of the operation of such laws or regulations,
including, without limitation, any laws, regulations, rules or requirements in effect in
the Republic of Poland, relating to (i) the transposition of the BRRD and (ii) the
instruments, rules and standards created under the BRRD. In particular, in the event of
the resolution of the Issuer, the Relevant Resolution Authority may write-down or
convert the MREL Notes ahead of the Notes which do not constitute MREL Notes.

Definitions
In these Conditions:

"Applicable Banking Regulations" means, at any time, the laws, regulations, requirements,
guidelines and policies relating to capital adequacy or resolution then in effect in the Republic of
Poland including, without limitation to the generality of the foregoing, the CRD, the CRR
Regulation, BRRD, the Creditor Hierarchy Directive, the BGF Act, the Insolvency Law and
those regulations, requirements, guidelines and policies relating to capital adequacy or resolution
adopted by the BGF or other Competent Authority from time to time and then in effect (whether
or not such requirements, guidelines or policies have the force of law and whether or not they are
applied generally or specifically to the Issuer);

"BGF" means Bankowy Fundusz Gwarancyjny;

"BGF Act" means a Polish Act of 10 June 2016 on bank guarantee fund, the deposit guarantee
scheme and resolution (as amended from time to time);
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"BRRD" means Directive 2014/59/EU of 15 May 2014 establishing the framework for the
recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, as the same may be amended
or replaced from time to time;

"Competent Authority" means the Polish Financial Supervision Authority (Komisja Nadzoru
Finansowego) or any successor or replacement thereto having primary responsibility for the
prudential oversight and supervision of the Issuer and/or the Relevant Resolution Authority (if
applicable), in any case as determined by the Issuer;

"CRD" means any of, or any combination of, the CRD Directive, the CRR Regulation, and any
CRD Implementing Measures;

"CRD Directive" means Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council
of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of
credit institutions and investment firms, as the same may be amended or replaced from time to
time, including, without limitation, as amended by Directive (EU) 2019/878 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019;

"CRD Implementing Measures" means any rules implementing the CRD Directive or the CRR
Regulation which may from time to time be introduced, including, but not limited to, delegated
or implementing acts (regulatory technical standards) adopted by the European Commission,
national laws and regulations, and regulations and guidelines issued by the Competent Authority
or any other relevant authority, which are applicable to the Issuer (on a stand-alone basis) or the
Group (on a consolidated basis) and which prescribe the requirements to be fulfilled by financial
instruments for inclusion in the regulatory capital or the minimum requirement for own funds
and eligible liabilities, as the case may be, of the Issuer (on a stand-alone basis) or the Group (on
a consolidated basis);

"CRR Regulation" means Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms,
as the same may be amended or replaced from time to time;

"Creditor Hierarchy Directive" means Directive (EU) 2017/2399 